ILLIK HESABAT 2 O O 8 ANNUAL REPORT

X Xalq Bank

Ugurla birlikdayik!






B
[N T
U W
[N NN
—_—
e
l—
[
[ T——
[
J—
S
—
—_—
_
——
R
i
i
e

Fi—

Statement of the Chairman of the Executive Board
Economy of Azerbaijan in 2008 and the role of banks
History of Xalq Bank

MUNDORICAT

Risk management

International relations

Retail services

Corporate services

Branch network

HR policy

Information Technologies

Independent auditors' report and financial statements

idara Heyati Sadrinin miiraciati
General details

2008-ci ild3 Azarbaycanin igtisadiyyati va
banklarin rolu

Xalq Bankin tarixcasi

Risklarin idara edilmasi

Beynalxalg slagalar

Parakanda xidmatlar

Korporativ xidmatlar

Xidmat sabakasi

insan resurslari

informasiya Texnologiyalari

Mistaqil auditor rayi va maliyys hesabatlari
Umumi malumatlar

CONTENTS

X Xalq Bank

Ugurla birlikdayik!




Asim Mammadli
Idars Heyatinin Sadri

Asim Mammadli
Chairman of the Executive Board

Sahmdarlarin fikrinca, Xalg Bank garsidaki bir ne¢a il arzinda inkisaf etmis genis
filial sabakasi vasitasila muasir, muxtalif cesidli va ylksak saviyyali xidmatlar taklif
edan universal maliyya institutuna cevrilmalidir.

Hormatli sshmdarlar, mastarilar, tarafdaslar!

2008-ci ilin sonunda dord yasini geyd edan Xalg Bankin
ilk illik Hesabatini diqgatiniza catdinram. Biz Sizlari
Bankimizin takca 2008-ci il arzinds deyil, faaliyyst
gostardiyi biitiin 6tan dévr arzinda alds etdiyi nailiyyatlar
va udurlari barada malumatlandirmagq istayirik. 9slinda
dord il Bank Gclin bir o gadar d3 uzun middst deyil,
lakin sshmdarlar va amakdaslar t¢iin tamamila yeni bir
maliyya qurumunun yaranmasi va tasakkil tapmasi ila
bagli olan bu dovr uzun va miirakkab olmusdur. Bank
kimi tamamil3 yeni adla faaliyyata baslayan Xalg Bankin
garsisinda duran 3sas magsad qisa miiddat arzinda yerl
bazarda aparici movgelari tutmagqidi. Bununla yanasi biz,
6lkanin maliyys bazarinda gucli doévist banklarinin va
xarici kapitalinistirak etdiyi 6zal banklarin olmasini, bank
sektorunda faktiki olaraq aparici biznes qurumlarinin
formalasdigini va sair amillari nazara alaraq garsimizda
duran hadafin mirakkabliyini tam anlayirdiq.

Buna baxmayaraq, garsimiza qoydugumuz maqsadlara
nazards tutdugumuzdan daha tez - 2006-ci ild3 nail
oldug va hamin il Xalq Bank &lkanin 10 aparici banki
sirasina daxil oldu.

Sahmdarlarin fikrincy, Xalg Bank qarsidaki bir nega il
arzinda inkisaf etmis genis filial sabakasi vasitasila mia-
sir, mixtalif cesidli va ylksak saviyyali xidmatlar taklif
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Dear shareholders, clients and partners!

It is a great pleasure for me to introduce the first an-
nual report of Xalg Bank that celebrated its four years
of activity as of December 2008. Our primary purpose is
to provide you with the broad information on bank ac-
tivity and achievements throughout the year of 2008 as
well as the previous years of its activity. Notwithstand-
ing the fact that four years of presence in the market
is not such a long period for a banking institution it
has been a serious challenge for the shareholders and
management of the Bank to establish and organize a
well functioning and healthy standing financial institu-
tion. The Bank's management had a clearly set target of
achieving a leading place within the banking industry
of the country throughout a very short period of time.
We have been very well aware of the fact that there is
a formed group of leading banks in the local financial
market as well as the banks with solid state and foreign
background of ownership that put huge challenges for
achieving our goals set.

Nevertheless we have been able to achieve those goals
even ahead of planned time horizon, becoming one of
the 10 leading banks in the local financial market by
2006.

As per the shareholders of the Bank, within the next
years of operations Xalg Bank should become a high

As per the shareholders of the Bank, within the next years of operations Xalq
Bank should become a high quality service universal Bank with the fairly de-
veloped branch network with rich and diversified up-to-date product line to be

offered for the customer use.

edan universal maliyya institutuna cevrilmalidir.

Mustari bazasini  formalasdirarkan biz  bilirdik ki,
parakanda xidmatlarin satisi Uizr3 istanilan naticani alda
etmak tictin Bank ilk névbada genis filial sabakasina ma-
lik olmalidir. Bunu nazara alaraq, ilkin marhalada bitiin
saylar korporativ mistarilarin calb olunmasina yonaldi
va bu istigamatds biz shamiyyatli nailiyyatlar alds etdik.
Bu glin Xalq Bank doviat va 6zal sektora mansub olan
iri istehsalcilarin da moveud oldugu goxsayli korporativ
mustarilara xidmat gostarir.

Faaliyyatin ilk iki ili bankin tasakkiliing, komandasinin
formalasmasina, tarafdas miinasibatlarinin qurulmasina
hasr edildi. Bu middat arzinda garb dlkalarinin niifuz-
lu banklari il3 3lagalar qurulmus, Bank beynalxalqg
taskilatlara Gzv olmus, mixtalif ddams sistemlarini
tatbig etmisdir.

Yola saldigimiz 2008-ci il dinyada global igtisadi
bhranin darinlasmasi saraitinda kecmisdir. Bu bdhranin
acl fosadlari Azarbaycan igtisadiyyatindan da yan
ke¢cmamisdir. Son on ild3 diinya igtisadiyyatina gqovusan
Azarbaycan iqtisadiyyatl bu gln bir cox sinaglardan
kecmakdadir.

Lakin Azarbaycan hokumatinin  monetar va fiskal
siyasata dair atdigi adekvat addimlar &lkanin maliyya va
makroigtisadi sabitliyini goruyub saxlamagqdadir.

Béhranin ciddi sakilds uzanmasi va darinlasmasina
baxmayaraq iqgtisadiyyatimizin dinamik inkisafi da-
vam etmis, ikiragamli igtisadi artim tempi qorunub
saxlanmisdir. Buna paralel olaraq asas istirakcilari kigik
va orta biznes olan geyri-neft sektoru siratls inkisaf
etmisdir va giinti-glindan daha da glclanir.

Igtisadiyyatin hazirki durumu géstarir ki, biznesin istar
keyfiyyat, istarss da kamiyyat baximindan daim inkisaf
etmasi maliyya bazarinda ugurun 3sas taminatgisidir.
Bununla alagadar, biz Bankin 6lka arazisinda filial
sabakasinin - genislandirilmasini davam  etdirmak
niyyatindayik.

Hazirda mustarilarimiz Xalg Bankin &lkanin  Baki,
Sumgayit, Zaqatala, Gancs, Neftcala, Mingagevir,
Yevlax, Calilabad va Naxcivan kimi boylik saharlarindaki
mivafigq struktur bolmalarinin xidmatlarindan istifada
eda bilarlar. Ontimiizdaki 2009-cu ilda biz genislonma
prosesini davam etdirarak respublikanin rayonlarinda

quality service universal Bank with the fairly developed
branch network with rich and diversified up-to-date
product line to be offered for the customer use.

We knew that to be able to achieve a desired retail cus-
tomer base we had to establish a widespread branch
network. Keeping that in mind we started from the
development of our corporate customer base on the
initial stage of our growth which proved to be a suc-
cessful strategy. Today Xalq Bank delivers a full range of
banking services to a big number of state and privately
owned enterprises.

The first two years were devoted to the organizational
issues of the Bank, team building process and establish-
ing partner networks. Throughout this period of time
we were able to establish contacts with the top-notch
Western financial institutions. Besides it Xalq Bank had
acquired membership in a number of organizations and
included diverse range of money transfer systems to its
product line.

The year of 2008 was remarked with a serious down-
turn of the world financial system. This contraction in
the world business activities and credit squeeze that
affected cross-border investments has its impact on
Azerbaijani economy which has been integrating to the
world economy throughout the past decade.

Preserving financial and the macroeconomic stability
was very well understood and adequate steps in the
monetary and fiscal policies were undertaken by the
Government of Azerbaijan.

Still the double digit economic growth in Azerbaijan
was successfully sustained and the required environ-
ment for the dynamic growth was provided. At the
same time there are signs of non-oil related small and
medium size businesses strengthening. We, at Xalq
Bank believe that this segment of economy has huge
upside potential for further growth and we are com-
mitted to continue strengthening our presence within
this market segment.

The current situation of the economy shows that the
sustainable growth of the businesses is the key deter-
minant of the financial market participants’ success.
That is why we are committed for further growth and
regional spread of our branch network throughout the
country.
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filiallar, habels bu il Baki saharinda bir ne¢a filial va s6ba
acmagi planlasdiririq.

2009-ci ilds biz, bank sektorundaki mévgelarimizi
nainki  qoruyub saxlamag, habelsa mdvgelarimizi
mdhkamlatmak Gclin bltln saylarimizi camlasdirmak
niyyatindayik. Uzunmiiddstli strategiyada biz 6lkanin
bes aparici banki sirasina daxil olmagi garsimiza magsad
goymusug. Biz inamla bu hadafa dogru iralilayirik va bu
magsadimiza galan il yetismayi nazards tuturug. Lakin
magsadimiz takea yeni yiksakliklara nail olmaq deyil,
hamcinin alda etdiklarimizi daha da guclandirmakdir.
V3 bunun dclin biz qarsidaki illarda da mistarilarimiza
va tarafdaslarimiza mikammal servis, yiiksak effektiv-
liyi tamin edan muasir va ehtiyac duyulan mahsul va
xidmatlar taklif etmak niyystindayik.

Biz arxaya faxrlg, iraliya inamla baxirig!

Faaliyystimiz hagqinda Hesabati yekunlasdiraraq geyd
etmak istayiram ki, tarafdaslarimiz, smakdaslarimiz,
mistarilarimiz va sshmdarlarimiz kimi inkisafda maragli
taraflarin dastayi olmadan buglinkl ugurlu naticalarin
3lda edilmasi son daraca ¢atin olard!.

Xalg Bankin idara Heyatinin adindan gdstardiklari eti-
mad va dastaya gora bizimla amakdaslq edan bitiin
mistarilorimiza  va  tarafdaslarimiza  tasakklrlimi
bildirmak istayiram. Xususila d3 Xalg Bankin kollektivina
minnatdarligimi bildiriram. Mahz har bir amakdasin
yUksak pesakarligi va korporativ. madaniyyati 6tan
muddat arzinds Bankin inkisafini va maliyya ugurlarini
tamin etmisdir.

Onlarin amayinin naticalari il Siz Xalg Bankin 2008-ci
il3 dair illik Hesabatinda tanis ola bilarsiniz.

Hormatly,

Asim Mammadli
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As of today our clients may apply to our outlets located
in the capital city of Baku as well as in the regional cen-
ters such as Sumgayit, Zagatala, Ganja, Neftchala, Min-
gechevir, Yevlakh, Jalilabad and Nakhchivan. Through-
out the year of 2009 we plan to further continue the
expansion process of our branch network in the main
regions of the country and also plan to introduce a few
more outlets in Baku for the disposal of our customers.

Within the forthcoming year of 2009 we plan not
only retain our leading position within the local fi-
nancial market but also do our best possible to further
strengthen it. In the long-term we set ourselves a goal
of becoming among five leading financial institutions
in Azerbaijan. We are heading towards this goal with
high sense of confidence and plan to achieve it within
the next year. Nevertheless our goal is not only com-
prised of achieving new targets set, it is also about re-
taining and strengthening our past achievements. That
is why in the forthcoming years we are committed to
continue delivering our first class service and provide
for the maximal efficiency of demanded up-to-date
banking products.

We look back with pride and look forward with a fair
sense of confidence!

In the end of this statement on our activity | would like
to emphasize the utmost important role of our part-
ners, colleagues, customers and shareholders in helping
us to achieve those challenging goals we have set.

On behalf of the Executive Board of Xalq Bank, | would
like to express my deepest gratitude to our partners,
customers and colleagues for their trust and support.
Special thanks go to the team members of Xalg Bank.
It is the high competency, professionalism and corpo-
rate culture of every individual employee that predeter-
mined the success of our institution.

The results of their job contribution on Xalg Bank's per-
formance in 2008 can be found in our Annual Report.

With best regards,

Asim Mammadli
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EXECUTIVE BOARD

X3zar Bagirh

|dara Heyati sadrinin maavini

Khazar Baghirli

Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board

Elxan Agayev

idara Heyati Sadrinin muavini

Elkhan Aghayev

Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board

Nigar Bilandarli

idara Heyatinin tizvii, Biznesin inkisafi
va Filiallarla Is Idarasinin raisi

Nigar Bilandarli

Member of the Executive Board,
Head of Business Development and
Branch Management Department

Yasar Nagiyev

idara Heyati sadrinin muavini

Yashar Nagiyev

Deputy Chairman of the Executive Board
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2008-ci il diinya 6lkalarinin son bir neca onilliklardir ki,
Uzlasmadiyi global maliyya bohrani ila yadda qaldi. Bu
bohranin ilk tasirlari inkisaf etmis maliyys bazarlarinda
misahida olundu. Ilk manbas ABS-in maliyys bazarinda
sosial ipoteka (sub-prime mortgage loans) adi ila
taninan seqment oldu. Qanunvericilikda va nazaratds
muayyan bosluglar naticasinda bu bdhranin manbayini
darhal ¢evik va adekvat sakilda aradan galdirmag miim-
kiin olmadi. Naticads maliyya bazarindaki ¢atinliklar
va  miflislasmalar  zancirvari  olaraq igtisadiyyatin
digar seqgmentlaring kecmaya basladi. Son illar arzind3
diinyada artan globalizasiya meyllari bu bohranin digar
olkalars daha da tez yayilmasina sarait yaratdi. Bu
inteqrasiyanin saviyyasindan asili olaraq olkalar bir-
birinin ardinca béhranla Gzlasmali oldular.

Bir cox d&lkalarin artig 2008-ci ilds global maliyya
bohrani il3 Gzlasmasina baxmayaraq, Azarbaycanin so-
sial-igtisadi hayatinda son illar musahida olunan siratli
inkisaf yola saldigimiz ilds do davam etmis, istehsal
va xidmat sahalarinda gazanilan ugurlar yiiksak artim
stiratina malik olmusdur.

Rasmi  manbalarin - malumatina 3sasan hesabat ili
arzinds Azarbaycan Respublikasinda istehsal edilmis
UDM (Umumi Daxili Mahsul) awvalki ills migayisada
10,8 faiz real artimla misahids olunmusdur. UDM-in
adam basina disan hacmi iss 4403.9 manat (5467.9 ABS
dollari) taskil etmisdir. Yola saldigimiz ild3 istehsal olu-
nan UDM-in 57.4%-i sanaye, 5.8%-i kand tasarriifati,
oveulug va mesa tasarriifati, 7.6%-i tikinti, 6%-i ticarat
va pullu xidmat sahalari, 5.1%-i nagliyyat, 1.9%-i rabita
sahasinda alds olunmusdur. Sevindirici haldir ki, neft
sektorunda UDM-in istehsali 7%, geyri-neft sektorunda
is9 15.7% artmisdir.
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The past year of 2008 was remarked by the influence
of unseen for the past decades global economic crisis.
The major financial markets became the first ones hit by
the crisis that emerged from the sub-prime mortgages
back in 2007 in the U.S. Gaps in the regulation, delayed
support for the first hit businesses and the frustration
of the legislative and regulatory powers has lead to the
deepening of the financial crunch and creeping it into
other sectors of the economy. The unprecedented glo-
balization of the financial markets during the past de-
cades allowed for the smooth transfer of the crisis from
one national market into another. Overall, depending
on the degree of economic integration different mar-
kets started joining the “club” of countries hit by the
downturn. Notwithstanding this fact, it is plausible to
admit that the economy of Azerbaijan continued its
rapid expansion throughout the year of 2008 that was
reflected in the improved welfare of the population and
the industry growth rates.

As per official statistical data the GDP (Gross Domestic
Product) of Azerbaijani economy showed annual real
growth rate of 10.8%. The per capita annual income
reached 4,403.90 AZN (5,467.90 USD). The overall GDP
growth is the res  ult of the growth observed in the
following segments of economy: 57.4% in industrial
production, 5.8% in agriculture, hunting and forestry,
7.6% in construction, 6% in trade and services industry,
5.1% in transportation, 1.9% in telecom. The oil indus-
try GDP growth rate accounts for 7%, whereas the non-
oil sector GDP growth rate constitutes 15.7%.

38006

2008

2007

X Xalq Bank

Ugurla birlikdayik!




2008-ci ilds Azarbaycanin

igtisadiyyati va Banklarin

rolu

The total amount of loans issued for the corporate and retail customers in 2008

has grown up by 46% in comparison to what it was in 2007 and constitutes
6,816.85 min AZN as of the year end 2008.

Economy of Azerbaijan in
2008 and the role of banks

Azarbaycanin UDM-nin vyiiksak artim tempi 6lkanin
bank sektorunun da suratli inkisafina 0z tasirini
goOstarmisdir. Xususila da sosial sahalarda nazara carpan
iralilayislar va geyri-neft sektorunun inkisaf etdirilmasi
6lka banklarinin alds etdiyi igtisadi nailiyyatlars 6z
tohfasini vermisdir. Qeyd edilan sahalarin banklarla
birbasa maliyya-tasarriifat slagalarinin olmasi sonda iri
hacmli amanatlarin calb edilmasi va sigortalanmasi, gi-
rov amaliyyatlarinin aparilmasi isinin takmillasdirilmasi
va mustarilarla yeni amakdashq Usullarinin tatbigina
sovqlandirmisdir.

Bank sektorundaki inkisaf biitlin asas gostaricilarin
dinamikasinda 6z aksini tapmisdir. 2008-ci ilin sonunda
Azarbaycanda 46 kommersiya banki va 94 geyri-bank
kredit taskilati, banklarin 567 va bank olmayan kredit
taskilatlarinin 64 filiali faaliyyat gdstarmisdir.

_Banklarin
filiallarinin sayi

2005
2006

Bank sisteminin  2008-ci ilds aktiviari 6tan ills
miqayisada 67% artaraq 10273.45 min AZN, banklarin
kapitali iss 66% artaraq 1704.87 min AZN taskil
etmisdir.

Aktivlar (mln.)

2006

Banklarin aktivlarinin hacminin  UDM-3 nisbatinin
2008-ci ilin yekunlarina 3sasan 27% taskil etmasi,
bank sektorunun inkisaf etmis dlkalarin bank sektorlar
il3 miigayisada inkisaf potensialinin yiiksak oldugunu
gOstarir. Maliyya institutlari tarafindan élkanin fiziki va
hiquqi saxslarina verilan kreditlarin mablagi hesabat
ilinda 2007-ci illa miigayisada 46% artaraq 6816.85 min
AZN olmusdur.

X Xalq Bank
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The rapid GDP growth rate of Azerbaijan has also
influenced the growth rates observed within the banking
industry. Thus, considering the utmost important role of
banks in the development of non-oil and social areas,
the attraction of deposits to banks and their insurance,
improvements in handling of collateral related
transactions, and application of attractive methods is
an important indicator of qualitative development. The
growth of banking business is reflected in the trends of
major indicators.

As of the year end of 2008 there were 46 commercial
banks with 567 branches present in the market along
with 94 non-bank financial institutions with 64 branches
across the country.

600

w0  Number of
banks' branches

2008

The total asset value of banks represents annual growth
of 67% and reached 10,273.45 min AZN by the end
of 2008. Whereas the total equity of the banks shows
annual growth rate of 66% and reached 1,704.87 min
AZN.
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2008

The 27% ratio of total bank assets to the GDP for 2008
represents high upside potential for further growth of
banks compared to their peers in the developed western
financial markets. The total amount of loans issued for
the corporate and retail customers in 2008 has grown
up by 46% in comparison to what it was in 2007 and
constitutes 6,816.85 min AZN as of the year end 2008.

Kreditlar (mIn AZN)

Credits (mln AZN)

@® 2005 @ 2006 @ 2007 ® 2008

Olkanin banklarinda mustari depozitlari 2008-ci ilin
naticalarina gora 27% artaraq 4055.09 min AZN taskil
etmisdir ki, bu mablagin da 38%-i talabli depozitlar,
62% isa muddatli depozitlarin payina disur.
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Olkanin maliyya-bank sektorunda hayata kecirilan isla-
hatlargabuledilanhiiqugi-normativ aktlarvabeynalxalqg
standartlar 3sas goturiimakls hayata kecirilmis va bu
da banklar arasinda ragabatin glclandirilmasina va
Jhalinin bank xidmatlarina ¢ixis imkanlarinin artmasina
sabab olmusdur.

Diinyadaki pessimist statistik malumatlarin fonunda bu
inkisaf gostaricilarinin va artim templarinin bir gadsr
azalma ehtimali var. Darinlasan va middati uzanan igti-
sadi bohran kecan dovrlar arzinda diinya igtisadiyyat
il3 ugurlu inteqgrasiya edan Azarbaycan iqtisadiyyatini
ciddi sinaglar garsisinda qoyur.

Dinyada carayan edan igtisadi tanazziiliin fasadlari
bilavasita regional bazarlarda artiq 6z ciddi tasirini
gOstarmakdadir. Bohran sababindan azalan ticarst
dovriyyasi va talabat, ixrac edan sahalardan da yan
kecmir. Eyni zamanda diinya bazarinda neftin giymatinin
kaskin dismasi, xaricda ¢alisan Azarbaycan vatandaslari
tarsfindan vatana edilan koglrmalarin azalmasi va
beynalxalg maliyyslasdirmanin kaskin azalmasi bir cox
igtisadi gostaricilara 6z ciddi tasirini géstarmakdadir.
Lakin, 6lks rahbarliyi zamaninda cevik va adekvat
monetar, fiskal va ganunvericilik siyasatindan samarali
istifads edarak bu cur narahatcihga son goymus va
Olkanin daxilinda maliyya sabitliyini goruyub saxlaya
bilmisdir.

The annual growth of deposits accounts for 27% reach-
ing 4055,09 min AZN as of the year end 2008 out of
which 38% stands for demand deposits and 62% for
term deposits.

3750 5000

Deposits (min AZN)

The reforms that take place in the financial market of
the country are within the compliance to legislation
and address the current developments in international
standards of conduct of business. This leads to further
creation of competitive environment among banks and
allows for better penetration of banking services into
the population of the country.

The spectacular performance of major financial indi-
cators from the past activities is gloomed up by the
shade of the published worldwide statistical data. The
deepening and prolonged economic downturn is raising
some key concerns and challenges for the economy of
Azerbaijan that has been integrating itself to the world
economic system throughout the past decade.

The feasible and direct affects of the contraction in the
world economy have reached its peak in the regional
markets. The slump in the world demand and trade
has affected the major export related industries of the
country as well as the region. The drop in the oil prices
on the worldwide markets, the squeeze in the cross
border credit flow and the drop in the financial remit-
tances from the citizens residing abroad, has added to
the impediments of the growth rates of key financial
indicators of Azerbaijan.

The prudent, timely and adequate measures undertaken
by the government of Azerbaijan allow for the stable
flow of business affairs within the country and shore up
the fuss arising from the speculative actions. Specifical-
ly, within a short period of time adequate adjustments
to the monetary, fiscal and legislative policies were ad-
opted that allowed for the enhancement of investor
and business confidence in Azerbaijan.
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XALQ BANKIN TARIXCOSI

HISTORY OF XALQ BANK

2008

DEKABR
DECEMBER

NOYABR
NOVEMBER

SENTYABR
SEPTEMBER

MAY

APREL
APRIL

FEVRAL
FEBRUARY

2007

Rusiyanin Russlavbanki ila mixbir alagalar yaradildi
"Ganca” filiali agildi
Bank "MIGOM" pul ké¢lirmalari sistemina gosuldu

Bakida "Markaz" filiali agild

Xalg Bank yeni xidmat névii - qizil kilgalarin satisina bagladi

"Yevlax" filiali acildi
“Calilabad" filiali acildi
Yeni amanat névi “Progres” tatbig olundu

Xalq Bank amanatgilari arasinda "EURO 2008 - Futbol dizra
Avropa ¢empionati” udus kampaniyasina basladi

Xalq Bank Adidas sirkati ila birlikds "Glzastdan yararlanin
aksiyasini kecirdi

|

Xalg Bank Baki saharinin markazinda iki yeni sébasini acdi

Xalg Bank Visa International 6danis sisteminin tizvliyGnii
alda etdi

Opening of correspondent account with Russlavbank, Russia
Opening of "Ganja" branch
Xalg Bank joins "MIGOM" money transfers system

Opening of “Central” branch in Baku

New service for retail customers - trading of golden bars is
launched

Opening of "Yevlakh" branch
Opening of “Jalilabad" branch
New "Progress" deposit is launched

Xalq Bank launches new promotional campaign "EURO 2008"
among its customers

Xalg Bank and Adidas launches joint campaign “Enjoy the
Discounts!”

Two retail offices of Xalg Bank opened in the city center of
Baku
Xalg Bank becomes a member of Visa International

DEKABR
DECEMBER

SENTYABR
SEPTEMBER

AVQUST
AUGUST

iYUL
JuLy
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JANUARY

2006

"Mingacevir” filiali agildi

Xalq Bank Avropa igtisadiyyat, Ticarat, Sahibkarlig va Sanaye
Palatasinin tizvii oldu

Xalg Bank, Kapital Bankin 20% sahmlarini alaraq,
sshmdarlarin sirasina daxil oldu

“Neftcala” filiali acild

Xalg Bank ®manatlarin Sigortalanmasi Fondunun (8SF) tizvi
oldu

Xalg Bankin nizamnama3 kapitali 53.55 min. AZN mablagina
gadar artirildi

“Naxgivan” sébasi acildi

Avstriyanin Raiffeisen Bankinda mixbir hesab agildi

Xalg Bankin nizamnama3 kapitali 36.25 min. AZN mablagina
gadar artirildi

Opening of "Mingechevir" branch

Membership of European Economic Chamber of Trade, Com-
merce and Industry (EEIG)

Bank becomes a shareholder of Kapital Bank, having bought
20% of its shares

Opening of "Neftchala" branch

Bank becomes a member of Deposit Insurance Fund of
Azerbaijan

Share capital of Xalg Bank is increased up to 53.55 min. AZN

Opening of "Nakhchivan” division

Opening of correspondent account with Raiffeisen Bank,
Austria
Share capital of Xalg Bank is increased up to 36.25 min. AZN

DEKABR
DECEMBER

OKTYABR
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IYUL
JuLy

IYUN
JUNE

MAY

APREL
APRIL

Xalq Banki tarafindan yaradilan Nar Mobile (Azarfon) operato-
runun xidmatlarin 6danilmasi sistemi tatbiq olundu

Cariilin ilk ti¢ ribuniin faaliyyatinin naticalaring gora Xalq
Bank &lkanin on aparici banki sirasina daxil oldu

Darc olunan malumatlara asasan Xalg Bank 2006-ci ilda
6lkanin an faal inkisaf edan banki elan olundu

Xalg Bank MasterCard international beynalxalq 6danis
sisteminin Gzvllyind alda etdi

Yeni "ipoteka amanati” tatbiq olundu

"Sumaayit” filial agildi

Xalq Bank develops and implements system for Nar Mobile
(Azerfon) services payment

With regard to its financial results Xalg Bank is placed
among Top-10 banks of the country

According to published statistics Xalq Bank is the most
dynamic developing bank of the country in 2006

Bank becomes an associate member of MasterCard
International

New "Mortgage deposit” is launched

Opening of "Sumagayit" branch

X Xalq Bank
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2004

DEKABR
DECEMBER

Xalq Bankin tarixc¢asi

History of Xalq Bank

Azarbaycan Respublikasi ipoteka Fondunun hesabina birinci
ipoteka krediti verildi
Zaqatala saharinda Bankin ilk filiali agildi

Yeni amanat novi - "Usaq yigim amanati” tatbiq edildi
Xalq Bank Azarbaycan Ipoteka Fondunun mivakkil banklar
siyahisina daxil edildi

Rusiyanin ©@manat Banki ila mlxbir alagalsr quruldu

Nyu-Yorkdaki American Express bankinda miixbir hesab
acildi
Deloitte & Touche sirkati Bankin beynalxalq auditoru secildi

“Udurla birlikdayik!" stiari altinda bankin genis ahatali imic
reklam kampaniyasi baslandi

Avropa otelinds bankin bir illik faaliyyatina hasr olunmus
tantanali marasim kegirildi

Bank ilk dafa olaraq cari ayr manfaatla bitirdi

Xalq Bank Amerikanin Azarbaycandaki Ticarat Palatasinin
zvllyund alda etdi

Bank lokal plastik kartlarin buraxilmasina basladi
Bankin Bas ofisinda ilk bankomat qurasdirildi

Bank Western Union stratli pul ko¢lrmalari sisteming
qosuldu

Rusiyanin impeks Bankinda miixbir hesab acild

Bank "Bistraya Pogta" stiratli pul kdgtirmalari sisteming
qosuldu

Bank SWIFT sirkatinin Gzvluylnu aldi

Bank Azarbaycan-Rusiya Isglizar 8makdasliq palatasina
daxil oldu

Almaniyanin Dresdner Bankinda miixbir hesab acild

Bank Azarbaycan Banklar Assosiasiyasinin zvliylni alda
etdi

Bank Azarbaycan Respublikasl Milli Bankinda geydiyyatdan
kecdi (27 dekabr 2004-cii il tarixli 246 sayh Lisenziya)

X Xalq Bank
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The first mortgage loan of State Mortgage Program is issued

Opening of the first branch of Xalq Bank - “Zagatala” branch

Launching of new "Child's" deposit
Xalg Bank is been chosen as an agent of Azerbaijan State
Mortgage Fund

Opening of correspondent account with Sberbank, Russia

Establishing of correspondent relations with American
Express Bank, New York

Deloitte & Touche company becomes an official interna-
tional auditor of Xalq Bank

Under the motto “Successfully together!" Xalg Bank
launched the advertising campaign

Xalg Bank celebrates the First Annual Anniversary in Europe
Hotel

The monthly activity of the Bank for the first time shows the
profit

Joining American Chamber of Commerce in Azerbaijan

Launching of local cards issuance

The first ATM is installed at the Head Office
Connection to Western Union express money transfer
system

Opening the correspondent account with Impex Bank,
Russia

Joins to "Bistraya Pochta" express money transfer system
Becomes a member of SWIFT

Joining the Azerbaijan-Russia business chamber

Establishing of correspondent relations with Dresdner Bank,
Frankfurt

Bank becomes a member of Azerbaijan Banks Association

Bank is registered at National Bank of Azerbaijan (License
number 246 issued on Dec 27, 2004)

RISKLORIN IDARD EDILMBSI

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Risklarin idara edilmasi

Risk management

Xalg Bank bank nazarati Gzra Bazel Komitasinin tdvsiyalari asasinda hazirlanmis
va 3saslandirimis sakilda Bankin gabul etdiyi bdtin risklarin azaldilmasi magsadi
I13 onlarin askarlanmasini, 6lctiimasini va nazaratin apariimasini tamin edan
risklarin idars edilmasi sistemini yaradib vo hazirda ondan muvaffagiyyatls

istifada edir.

Risklarin idars edilmasi  Bankin aktivlarinin -~ va
passivlarinin idara edilmasi siyasatinin hayata kegiril-
masinda, habels miivafig hesabatliligin va nazarat
sisteminin  taskil edilmasinds  mihim rol oynayir.
Risklarin - 6lclilmasi  Azarbaycan Respublikasi  Milli
Bankinin talablari ila barabar risklarin idars edilmasi
Uizra beynalxalg standartlara (Bazel I1) asasan mivafi
metodikalar, gdstarici va alatlardan istifads edilmakis
hayata kegirilir.

Son bir neca il arzinds Xalg Bank 6z daxili nazarat
sistemlarinin, xUsusila d3 risklarin idara edilmasi
prosesinin inkisafi va  glclandirilmasini  davam
etdirmisdir. Xalg Bank bank nazarati Uzro Bazel
Komitasinin  tovsiyalari  3sasinda  hazirlanmis  va
asaslandirilmis sakilds Bankin gabul etdiyi bitin
risklarin azaldiilmasi magsadi ila onlarin askarlanmasini,
olcllmasini va nazaratin apariimasini tamin edan
risklarin idars edilmasi sistemini yaradib va hazirda
ondan muvaffagiyyatla istifads edir.

Bankin risklarin idars edilmasi sistemi artan meylli
regional ekspansiya va bank mahsullarinin, xuisusila
d3 parakands mahsullarin  diversifikasiyasi  nazars
alinaraq daima takmillasdirilir. Risklarin idara edilmasi
sistemini yaradarkan Xalq Bankin rahbar tutdugu asas
prinsip - sshmdarlarin va amanatcilarin vasaitlarinin
tahlikasizliyinin  tamin edilmasi va hatta bels bir
tahlukasizliyin galir alds edilmasindan &nds olmasidir.
Risklarin idars edilmasinds Xalg Bankin  magsadi
va vazifasi biznes faaliyyati (izra mahdudiyyatlarin
muayyan edilmasi vasitasila asaslandiriimamis risklarin
garsisinin alinmasindan ibaratdir.

X Xalq Bank
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Risk management plays an important role in the mana-
gement policies of the Bank's assets and liabilities as
well as in the facilitation of respective reporting and
monitoring systems. Xalq Bank has established and
maintains a risk management system developed on the
basis of the recommendations of the National Bank of
Azerbaijan and in accordance with the international
standards on Risk management (Basel II).

For the last few years Xalq Bank continuously devel-
oped and upgraded its internal monitoring systems es-
pecially in the area of risk management processes. For
the purposes of Bank's risk mitigation, their monitoring,
detection and measurement the Bank at present fully
exploits a risk management system prepared in accor-
dance with the Basel Committee recommendations on
the Bank supervision.

Xalg Bank's risk management system is constantly up-
graded and improved given the growing regional expan-
sion and diversification of banking products, especially
retail products. The principal consideration of Xalg Bank
in developing the risk management system: protection
of shareholders' and depositors' funds prevails over in-
come generation.

For the purposes of Bank's risk mitigation, their monitoring, detection and mea-
surement the Bank at present fully exploits a risk management system prepared
in accordance with the Basel Committee recommendations on the Bank super-

vision.

Bu da asagida geyd edilan sartlarin hesabina hayata

kecirilir:

®  Risk saviyyasinin giymatlandirilmasi metodikasinin
formalasdiriimasi;

®  Risk saviyyasinin giymatlandirilmasi va monitoringi
texnologiyasinin yaradilmasi;

®  Hor bir biznesin va miiassisanin, o climladan
bltoviikds bankin risklarinin saviyyasinin idara
edilmasi texnologiyasinin yaradilmasi;

e Risk menecmentinin  parametrlarinin - yerina
yetirilmasi zra nazarat sisteminin yaradilmasi va
dastaklanmasi.

Kredit riski

Kreditlasdirma bankin 3sas galir manbayidir. Mahz
buna gdra da Bank kredit riskinin miayyanlasdiriimasi,
giymatlandiriimasi va idara edilmasi proseduralarina
xtsusi  diggat yetirir. Bu isin 3sas istigamatlari
Bankin idara Heyati tarafindan tasdiq edilmis "Kredit
siyasati"nds aks olunur. Bankin Kredit siyasatinin
magsadlari arasinda kredit portfelinin keyfiyyatinin
mivafiq saviyyads saxlanmasina, elaca ds Bankin
etibarli va maliyya baximindan dayanigli mustarilar
dairasinin genislandirilmasing xlsusi shamiyyat verilir.

Bank kreditlasdirma masalalari izra gararlarin gabul
edilmasi Uclin asagidaki kollegial organlari yaradaraq,
onlarin faaliyyatini toamin edir: bas ofisin Boyik va
Kicik kredit komitalari va kreditlasdirma ils bagl
gararlarr gabul edan filial komitalari. Bu sistem Uzrs
salahiyyatlarin bolglst isa kredit arizalarina  qisa
muddatds baxilmasina sarait yaradir, ardicil olaraq
bu sahads mikammal gararlarin gabul edilmasini va
eyni zamanda vahid meyarlara amal edilmasini tamin
edir. Mustarinin maliyys ¢atinliklari ila  Gzlasdiyini
erkan marhalada askar etmak va bankin maraglarinin
gorunmasl Uciin tadbir gérmak magsadi ils kreditlarin
keyfiyyating  va vaxtinda qaytariimasina daim
nazarat olunur. Kredit portfelinin artimi Bank (ciln
gabulolunmaz risklarin garsisinin alinmasini nazara al-
magqla tanzimlanir.

The objective of Xalg Bank's risk management is to pre-
vent assumption of any unjustified risk by setting limi-
tations and restrictions for business activities by, among
others:

® Developing a risk level assessment methodology;

® Developing a risk level assessment and monitoring
technique;

® Developing a risk level management technique for
each business and the Bank as a whole;

® Developing and supporting the risk management
compliance control system.

Credit risk

Lending is the principal income generating activity of
the Bank. Therefore, the Bank pays particular attention
to credit risk identification, assessment and manage-
ment procedures. The main areas of this activity are
defined in the Lending Policy approved by the Bank's
Executive Board. Among the goals and objectives of the
Bank's Lending Policy higher priority is given to main-
taining a proper level of quality of the loan portfolio
and expanding the number of reliable and financially
sound customers of the Bank.

Bank has established and maintains collective lending
decision-making bodies, the Upper and Lower Credit
Committees of the head offices and branch office com-
mittees for lending related decision-making. This system
of division of authorities allows for prompt decision re-
view and decision making on loan applications, while
also providing reassurance as to uniform single criteria
and consistent quality of lending decisions made.

In order to detect at an early stage that a customer is
experiencing financial difficulties and to take measures
to protect the Bank's best interests, loan quality and re-
coverability are monitored on a regular basis. Growth of
the loan portfolio is monitored and controlled in such
a manner that helps the Bank to avoid unacceptable
degree of risk exposure.

X Xalq Bank
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

Xalg Bank muxtalif beynalxalq sirkatlarla va taskilatlarla slagasini genislandirir

vd mOohkamlandirir,

Xarici banklarla va beynalxalg taskilatlarla amakdasliq
istanilan bankin muvaffagiyyatls faaliyyat gdstarmasing
zamin yaradir. Bunu nazars alaraq, faaliyyatina basladigi
andan etibaran Xalg Bank beynaslxalg minasibatlarin
inkisaf etdirilmasing xiisusi ahamiyyat verir. Bankin
strategiyasi diinyanin aparici maliyya taskilatlar ils
beynalxalg alagalarin genislandirilmasing yénaldilir ki,
bu da 6z n6vbasinds mistarilara bank amaliyyatlari
Uzry yuksak daracads alverisli sartlar va tariflar taklif
etmaya imkan verir.

Hal-hazirda Xalq Bankin asas taraf migabillari sirasina
Standard Chartered Bank (Nyu York), Standard Char-
tered Bank (Tokio), Standard Chartered Bank (Frankfurt),
Raiffeisen CentralBank (Vyana), Dresdner Bank (Frank-
furt), Rusiyanin ©manat Banki, Raiffeisen Moskva
Banki, Bank Stolichniy Kredit va Russlavbank daxildir.

Kart xidmatlari sahasinds udurlu strateji faaliyyat
naticasinda Xalgq Bank 2006-ci ildan etibaran Master-
Card international 6danis sisteminin tizvliiyiini almisdir.
2008-ci ildan isy Visa international 6danis sistemi-
nin beynalxalg dzvllyind alds edarak, mistarilaring
muxtalif cesidli plastik kartlari taklif etmak imkani
gazanib.

Ticaratin maliyyalasdirilmasi va sanadli amaliyyatlarin
apariimasi magsadi il Xalg Bankla Avstriyanin  Raif-
feisen CentralBank-1 arasinda "Kredit xattinin agilmasi
hagqinda” Mugavilanin baglanmasi Bankin beynalxalq
minasibatlarinin - inkisafinda bdytk nailiyyat hesab
edila bilar. Otan dévr arzinda Xalg Bankin sanadli
amaliyyatlarinin dévriyyasi taxminan 40.0 min ABS
dollarr tagkil etmisdir.

Novbati ilds xarici tarafdaslar sabakasinin daha da
genislandirilmasi  planlasdirihir. Yeni tarsf muqgabili-
nin secilmasinds amakdashigin igtisadi ssaslandiriimasi,
tarafdas banklarin beynalxalg reytinglari va xidmatlarin
gostarilmasing kompleks yanasma 3sas meyarlar sayilir.

Xalg Bankin xarici igtisadi minasibatlarinin - 3sas
xUsusiyyatlari Bankin beynalxalg va regional taskilatlara
daxil olmasidir. Bu baximdan Bankin Amerika Ticarat
Palatasina  (AmCham), Azarbaycan-Rusiya Isgiizar
Palatasina va Avropa Iqtisadiyyat, Ticarat, Sahibkarliq va
Sanaye Palatasina (EEIG) lizv olmasi onun miixtalif as-
sosiasiyalarda aktiv istirakinin gdstaricisidir.

Belalikls, Xalg Bank muxtalif beynalxalq sirkatlarls va
taskilatlarla slagasini genislandirir va méhkamlandirir.

Cooperation with foreign banks and international in-
stitutions would enable any bank to operate success-
fully. Hence, starting from its first days of establishment
Xalg Bank has assigned particular importance to build-
ing and developing international relations. The Bank's
strategy aims at enhancing international contacts and
relations with the world's leading financial institutions,
which, in turn, enables the Bank to offer its customers
the possibly favorable terms and rates for the transac-
tions.

Today Xalq Bank's main partners are Standard Chartered
Bank (New York), Standard Chartered Bank (Tokyo),
Standard Chartered Bank AG (Frankfurt), Raiffeisen
CentralBank (Vienna), Dresdner Bank (Frankfurt), Sber-
bank (Moscow), Raiffeisen Bank (Moscow), Stolichniy
Kredit Bank (Moscow) and Russlavbank (Moscow).

As a result of successful operations in plastic cards
business Xalq Bank was granted membership from
the MasterCard International Payment system back in
2006. Later in 2008 membership with Visa International
Payment system was attained and allowed for further
delivery of a diverse range of plastic cards to its cus-
tomers.

Another important indicator of a successful develop-
ment in the international relations of the Bank is the
agreement on "Opening of credit line facility" with
Raiffeisen CentralBank (Austria) on behalf of Xalg Bank
that should allow for the conduct of trade finance and
documentary operations of the Bank. The turnover from
the documentary operations at Xalg Bank throughout
2008 approximates to 40.0 min USD.

The Bank is planning further expansion of the network
of foreign partners in the next year. In this view, the
principal selection criteria for new partners includes the
cost effectiveness implications relating to the proposed
account, international ratings of partner banks and in-
tegrated approach in service delivery.

An important characteristic of Xalg Bank's foreign eco-
nomic relations lies in acquisition of memberships with
international and regional organizations. In this regard,
the Bank's membership with the American Chamber of
Commerce (AmCham), Azerbaijan-Russian Chamber of
Business, and with the European Economic, Trade, Busi-
ness and Industrial Chamber (EEIG) indicates of its ac-
tive involvement with a variety of institutions.

Thus, Xalg Bank seeks to further promote and enhance
its relations with different international companies and
institutions.

Xalg Bank seeks to further promote and enhance its relations with different in-
ternational companies and institutions.

X Xalq Bank

Ugurla birlikdayik!




Parakands  biznesin  3sas istigamatlarindan  biri
dhalidan pul vasaitlarinin calb edilmasi va amanatlar
Uzra faizlarin 6danilmasidir. Xalg Bank har mistarinin
talablarini maksimal daracads 6dayan mixtalif noév
depozit amanatlarini taklif edir. Har amanatin alverisli
va cevik sartlari onlar Bankin mistarilari Gglin sarfali
edir. ©@manatlarin galirli olmasi il yanasi, amanatgilars
Bankin digar xidmatlarinin gostarilmasi, calb olunmus
vasaitin davamli olaraq artmasina imkan yaradir.

Hesabat ilinds Bank tarafindan yeni depozit mahsulu
- "Progres” - islanib hazirlanmis va mistarilars tagqdim
edilmisdir. "Progres” amanati Uzra faizlarin ylksak
olmasi mustarilarin - vasaitlarinin  miintazam olaraq
artirlmasina imkan yaradir.

2008-ci ilin sonuna gadar Xalg Bankin fiziki saxslar izra
depozit amanatlarinin imumi portfeli 204.04 min manat
taskil etmis va calb olunmus vasaitin hacmina gora Bank
6lkanin bes aparici banki sirasina daxil olmusdur.

Xalg Bank 2007-ci ilds vyaradilmis ©manatlarin
Sigortalanmasi  Fonduna daxil olan ilk banklardan
biridir.

Azarbaycan !poteka Fondunun Uzvi olarag Xalg
Bank Dovlat Ipoteka Programinda faal istirak edir va
Azarbaycan vatandaglarina ipoteka kreditlari  verir.
Umumiyyatla program c¢argivasinds cami 4.54 min
manat hacminda 117 ipoteka krediti verilib.

Hamin program Uglin xlsusi olaraq ipoteka kreditinin
potensial borcalanlari Gglin nazarda tutulmus Ipoteka
amanati hazirlanarag tatbig olunub. ®@manatin sartlari
mustariya manzil almaq magsadila ilkin ddanis Uglin
vasait yigmag va bank tarafindan ipoteka kreditinin
verilmasinda glizast almaq imkanini yaradir.

MasterCard international beynalxalq 6danis sistemi-
nin Gzvi olaraq Xalg Bank, hamin sistemin debit va
kredit kartlarini buraxir. 2008-ci ild3 Visa International
beynalxalq 6danis sisteminin d3 Gzvllylnin 3ld
edilmasi mdveud olan bank xidmatlari cesidinin
artirlmasina musbat tasir gostarmisdir.

Otan il Bank plastik kartlardan istifada infrastrukturunu
da shamiyyatli daracads genislandirmis, infrastruktu-
run 3sas tarkib hissalari olan bankomatlarin sayini 21-3
catdiraraqg, xeyli artirmisdir. 2008-ci ilin sonuna emis-
siya edilmis kartlarin sayi 11 500 taskil edib.

2008-ci ilds Xalg Bankin Adidas sirkati ila birlikda
kecirdiyi ,Glzastdan yararlanin!" aksiyasi ¢arcivasinda
Bankin karti ils Adidas magazasinda mal alan mustarilar
10% hacminda endirim 3ld3 etmisdir.

Kart sahiblarinin rahathgr clin Xalg Bank daim 6lkanin
ham paytaxtinda, ham d3 regionlarinda bankomatlar
sabakasini genislandirir.

Xalg Bankin 2008-ci ilds totbig etdiyi yeni xidmatlar
sirasinda an ylksak, 999,9 ayarh qizil kiilcalarin alinmasi
va satilmasi xidmatids olmusdur. Bankin mistarilari
5,10, 20, 50, 100, 250, 500 gramliq qizil kiil¢alari ala

One of the main aspects of retail business assumes at-
traction of funding from the population and paying
interest income on those funds. Xalg Bank offers its
customers various types of deposits that are specifically
designed to meet the customer needs in a most effi-
cient way. Favorable and flexible terms associated with
each of deposit make them affordable and attractive
for the Bank customers. The combination of yield and
supplementary services provided to customers support
and facilitate the continuous growth of deposits.

Within the period reviewed herein the new “Progress”
deposit product was introduced for the customers. High
interest income on this deposit allows for the steady
growth of the customer funds.

As of the year end of 2008 the total portfolio of indi-
vidual customer deposits constituted 204.04 min AZN
which ranks Xalg Bank among Top Five Banks in the
country.

Xalq Bank was among the first banks to join the Deposit
Insurance Fund established in 2007.

Being an agent of the Azerbaijani Mortgage Fund, Xalq
Bank has been actively involved in the State Mortgage
Program by extending mortgage loans to Azerbaijani
residents. Overall 117 loans for a total amount of 4.54
million AZN were granted under the Program.

Under the Program, the Bank specifically designed and
introduced the Mortgage Deposit product to be pro-
vided to prospective mortgage borrowers. Terms of this
deposit enable the customer to save funds to make a
down-payment for the apartment and to be entitled to
discounts and privileges when taking a mortgage loan
from the Bank.

Xalg Bank, as a member of MasterCard International,
issues various types of cards of this system. Issued
cards include both debit and credit cards. Acquisition of
membership from Visa International payment system in
2008 added up for the diversity of plastic card products
offered by the Bank.

During the last year a serious steps on plastic card in-
frastructure building have been undertaken. The key
element of this infrastructure — ATM network, has been
seriously increased in number and reached 21. As of the
year end of 2008, cards issued totaled to about 11 500
pieces.

The year of 2008 can also be remarked by the market-
ing campaign "Enjoy the discounts!" held together with
Adidas outlet in Baku. The cardholders of Xalg Bank
could benefit from 10% discounts offered to them by
making any purchase in the shops under Adidas brand
name.

For convenience of cardholders Xalg Bank continuously
expands its ATM network, both in the capital city and
the regions of the country.

Handling of transactions with the purchase and sale of
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bilar. Xalg Bank hamgcinin satilmis qizil kil¢alarin satin
alinmasini hayata kegirir. Qizil kiilgalarin daha tahlikasiz
saxlanmasi Gglin Bank mistarilars miixtalif olcili de-
pozit seyflari taklif edir.

Xalg Bank Azarbaycanda qizil ila amaliyyat aparan 3
bankdan biridir.

Xalg Bankin ahali arasinda an c¢ox talab olunan
xidmatlarindan biri stratli pul kéclrmalaridir. 2008-ci
ilds Xalg Bank "Migom" sistemindan istifada etmaya
baslayaraqg, pul kdcurmalarinin cesidini genislandirdi.
Hal-hazirda Bankda Western Union, Bistraya Pocta,
Xpress Money va Migom sistemlari isa salinmisdir.
Yeni sistemlarin is3 salinmasi, habels Bankin filial in-
frastrukturunun artinlmasi  hesabina 2008-ci ild3
hayata kecirilan pul ko¢tirmalarinin hacmi 9.0 min ABS
dollarina yaxin olmusdur.

Xalg Bank parakanda xidmat va mahsullarin gesidini
davamli artiraraq, nagd pula an rahat va etibarli alter-
nativ sayilan taninmis American Express yol ceklarinin
alinmasi Gzra xidmati taklif edir.

Xalg Bankin taklif etdiyi genis spektrli kreditlar
mustarilarin borc vasaitlaring olan talabatini 6damaya
xidmat edir. Bankin kredit siyasatina uygun olaraq
mastarilarls  qarsiigh  3lverisli  sartlar  3sasinda
minasibatlarin  qurulmasi, har bir mistariys fardi
yanasma, elaca da kreditlarin sarfali faiz daracalari va
operativliyi mustarilarin - talablarini 6damaya imkan
verir.

2008-ci ilda fiziki saxslarin faal kreditlasmasi davam
etmis va onlara verilmis kreditlarin mumi hacmi bir
ne¢a dafy artaraq 17.68 min manat taskil etmisdir.
Xalg Bankin mistarilari arasinda an populyar kredit
mahsullari avtonagliyyat vasitalarinin kreditlasmasi va
istehlak kreditlaridir.

Xalg Bank mistarilarina sanadlarin va giymatli asyalarin
tahllkasizliyini tamin etmak magsadila miixtalif hacmli
depozit seyflarini taklif edir.
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999.9 probe golden bars was among the new products
offered by Xalg Bank in 2008. The Bank introduced its
customers the 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 250, 500 grams of
golden bars for sale. Xalg Bank also provides for the buy
back of the previously sold bars. For the purposes of se-
cure storage of the golden bars the Bank offers its safe
keeping facilities of diverse dimensions.

Xalq Bank is among three banks that conduct opera-
tions with gold in Azerbaijan.

Express money transfers constitute one of the most
demanded Xalg Bank's services by the population. By
joining "Migom" system in 2008, Xalg Bank was able to
broaden its range of money transfer services. Currently
the Bank employs Western Union, Bistraya Pochta, Ex-
press Money and Migom money transfer systems. The
emergence of new systems and branch infrastructure
of the Bank allowed for the money transfer transac-
tions turnover reach the value of about 9.0 million AZN
in 2008.

Seeking to enhance the range of retail services and
products, Xalq Bank provides for purchase of American
Express travel checks, which are recognized to be the
most convenient and safe alternative of cash.

The large spectrum of Bank's loan products allows for
the satisfaction of those customers of Bank that short
of funding resources. In compliance with the credit
policy of the Bank, the Bank offers mutually attractive
terms for the loans as well as facilitates individual ap-
proach to each customer providing for the affordable
interest rates and operational decision making process
to satisfy the customer needs.

In 2008 the Bank continued its active lending to indi-
viduals. This was reflected in a further growth of loan
portfolio for individuals that reached the total value of
17.68 million AZN as of the year end of 2008. The most
popular loan products among Xalg Bank's clients are
the car loans and consumer loans.

Deposit boxes of various size and dimensions are avail-
able to our customers for safe storage of documents
and precious items that constitute value for the cus-
tomers.




Xalg Bankin korporativ mastarilar tg¢ln nazards tutulmus xidmatlari naticada
mastarilarls uzunmaddatli garsiliglh tarafdasliq munasibatlarinin qurulmasina

imkan yaradir.

Bank, 6zlinlin bltln faaliyyat sahalarini inkisaf etdirmak
maqsadila korporativ mustarilara gostarilan xidmatlari
daim genislandirir. Bu da, 6z ndvbasinda, korporativ
biznesin inkisafl Uglin yeni imkanlar yaradir. Bankda
hiiquai saxslara va fardi sahibkarlara hesablasma-
kassa amaliyyatlari, kreditlarin verilmasi, korporativ va
amak haqql kartlari, ekvayring, elsca da xarici ticarat
amaliyyatlarinin aparilmasi va maslahatlarin verilmasi
kimi xidmatlar gostarilir. Bank 1000-dan ¢ox hiiqugi
saxs va fardi sahibkardan ibarat korporativ mustarilar
bazasina va onlara muvafiq xidmatlarin gostarilmasi
sahasinda genis is tacriibasina malikdir. Bankin korpo-
rativ mustarilar bazasi 6zlinda iri neft, tikinti, nagliyyat,
istehsalat, xidmat, enerji, telekommunikasiya sirkatlarini
birlasdirir.

Bankin korporativ mistarilari mal va avadanhgin, kand
tasarriifat texnikasinin alinmasi, dévriyya vasaitlarinin
barpasi, artirlmasi va istehsalatin genislandirilmasi,
tikinti, ticarat va xidmat faaliyyatinin hayata kecirilmasi
magsadila kreditlar ala bilar, elaca ds barpa olunan
va olunmayan kredit xatlari, bank zamanatlari kimi
xidmatlardan istifads eda bilarlar.

Biznesin  kreditlasmasi  Bankin  faaliyyatinin ~ 3sas
istigamatlarindanbiriolub,igtisadiinkisafinaparicrhissasi
hesab olunur. Xalg Bank mixtalif biznes sahalarinda
faaliyyat gostaran iri taskilat va muassisalara muxtalif
hacmli biznes kreditlari taklif edir. Bank igtisadiyyatin
aparici sahalarinin kreditorlarindan biri olarag, 6lkads
sahibkarlig muhitinin formalasmasi ils 3lagadar iri
korporativ mustarilarla barabar kicik va orta sahibkarliq
tamsilcilarinin maliyys ehtiyaclarinin garsilanmasina,
elaca da biznesin maliyyalasdirilmasina da genis yer
ayirir. 2008-ci ilda iri korporativ mustarilars, hamgcinin
kicik va orta biznesin inkisafina ayrilan kreditlarin
hacmi 360.65 min AZN taskil etmisdir. Bunlardan 24.5%
ticarat va xidmat, 60.5% sanaye, 13% tikinti, 0.5% kand
tasarrlifatl 1.5% isa digar sektorlara verilmis kreditlarin
payina dusir. Bununla da Xalg Bank sanaye va xidmat
sahasinda 6z istirak payini daha da artirir.

Xalg Bankin korporativ. mistarilar Gclin - nazarda
tutulmus xidmatlari naticads mastarilarls uzunmiddatli
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Striving for development in all areas of its operations
Xalg Bank seeks to regularly expand the range of ser-
vices it offers to its corporate customers. This, in turn,
serves as an opportunity for corporate business devel-
opment. The Bank provides legal entities and individuals
with cash settlements services, lending, corporate and
salary cards, acquiring as well as foreign trade finance
operations and advisory services. The Bank has an ex-
tensive experience of dealing with a customer base that
is comprised of over 1000 legal entities and sole propri-
etorships. The Bank's corporate customer base includes
large oil, construction, transport, production, service,
energy and telecommunications companies.

The Bank's corporate customers have available to them
loans as well as revolving and non-revolving credit
lines, bank guarantees for the acquisition of goods
and equipment, agricultural machinery, acquisition of
working assets and expansion of production, and for
the uses of construction, trade and service activities.

Lending to businesses, as a major area of the Bank's
operations, constitutes an important element of
economic growth. Xalg Bank offers business loans of
various scopes to large-scale companies and enterprises
operating in different areas of business. As a creditor
of the leading economic sectors, the Bank also pays
a great deal of attention to providing a favorable
business environment in the country by meeting
financial needs of small and medium enterprises
besides large customers. In 2008, the loan portfolio
allocated on large scale as well as on the small and
medium sized customers reached 360.65 min AZN. The
composition of this portfolio is structured as follows:
24.5% accounts for trade and services sector, 60.5% to
industrial production, 13% construction industry, 0.5%
agriculture, 1.5% allocated to other sectors of economy.
Thus, Xalg Bank further expands its presence in the
industrial production and services sector.

Deposits proposed to Xalg Bank's corporate customers
offer broad benefits and are distinguished with long-
term and mutual partnership relations with the Bank's

Deposits proposed to Xalg Bank's corporate customers offer broad benefits and
are distinguished with long-term and mutual partnership relations with the

Bank's customers.

qgarsiligh tarafdaslig minasibatlarinin qurulmasina im-
kan yaradir. Bels ki, hiiqliqi saxslar va fardi sahibkarlar-
dan amanatlarin gabulu Bank Ugiin strateji shamiyyat
kasb edir. 2008-ci ilds korporativ mistarilarin depozit
portfeli 94.27 min AZN taskil etmisdir ki, bu gostarici
kecan ilin mivafiq dovri ils miigayisads bir neca dafs
coxdur.

Xalg Bank hayata kecirdiyi amak haqq! layihalari il
dlagadar olarag xususi mahsul - adi va amak haqqt
kartlarinin xtisusiyyatlarini 6ziinda birlasdiran Maestro
elektron kartini hazirlamisdir.  Maestro amak haqq
kartlarindan istifads edan mastarilarimiz iri sijorta, neft
sanayesi, istehsalat sirkatlaridir. 2008-ci ilin sonunda
Bank artig 10 000-3 yaxin amak haqqr kartr emissiya
etmisdir.

9mak haqqr kartlarindan alava Bank hamginin isgilarin
mazuniyyat va tasarriifat xarclaring nazarat etmak va
pul vasaitlarindan istifadani optimallasdirmag imkani
veran MC Business korporativ kartlarini taklif edir.

Beynalxalg alagalarin va diinyanin aparici maliyya
institutlart ila amakdashgin ildan-ila  genislanmasi
naticasinds  Xalg  Bank  sanadli - amaliyyatlarin
maliyyalasdirilmasi  sahasinds &z mdévgeyini n3zara
carpacaq daracads mdohkamlandirmisdir. 2008-ci ilin
sonuna gadar Bank 4.0 min ABS dollari mablagindan
artig zamanat, 23.7 min ABS dollari va 15.3 min
avro mablaginds akkreditiv. amaliyyatlarini hayata
kecirmisdir. Bank korporativ mistarilara xarici ticarat
amaliyyatlarinin  hayata kecirilmasi zamani bir sira
maslahat xidmatlarinin gostarilmasi, muxtalif sartlarla
muxtalif mtddatli razilasmalarin taskil edilmasi, sanadli
akkreditivlar va inkasso, bank zamanatlari kimi istanilan
nov idxal-ixrac amaliyyatlarinin hayata kecirilmasini
taklif edir.

Korporativ  biznesin inkisafi, hiqugi saxslara  va
fardi  sahibkarlara gostarilan  xidmatlar  cesidinin
artinlmasi,  mdastarilarin -~ talablarinin - qarsilanmasi,
keyfiyyatli va mdiasir xidmatlarin  taklif edilmasi,
elaca da yeni mistarilarin calb edilmasi Xalg Bankin
faaliyyat strategiyalarindan biridir. Bu faaliyyatin
hayata kecirilmasi magsadila Bank méveud xidmatlari
takmillasdirmayi, galacakds yeni mahsullar  taklif
etmayi, ham Azarbaycanda, ham d3 beynalxalqg alamds
movageyini mohkamlandirmayi planlasdirir.

customers. Thus, attracting corporate and sole pro-
prietorship deposits is of strategic importance for the
Bank. In 2008, the corporate customer deposit portfolio
amounted to 94.27 min AZN, which exceeds the last
year's level by several times.

Xalq Bank, in line with the salary projects it implements,
has issued a "Maestro" electronic card that combines
the characteristics of ordinary and salary cards. Cus-
tomers that use the "Maestro" salary cards are person-
nel of large insurance, oil and production companies. As
of the end of 2008, the Bank has issued about 10 000
salary cards.

In addition to salary cards, the Bank also offers the MC
Business corporate card that allows for more optimized
cash fund uses by controlling employee business trip
and operational expenditures of the office.

As a result of the yearly expansion of international
relations and partnerships with the world's leading
financial institutions Xalg Bank has managed to
considerably strengthen its position in funding of
documentary operations. As of the year end of 2008,
the Bank conducted more than 4.0 min USD worth of
guarantees and 23.7 min USD and 15.3 min EUR worth
of L/C transactions. The Bank, while conducting foreign
trade transactions with corporate customers, offers
a range of advisory services, arranges agreements on
different terms and conditions, and provides letters
of credit and cash collection services, bank guarantee
services relating to imports and exports activities.

The further development of corporate business, increas-
ing the range of services offered to legal entities and
entrepreneurs, meeting customer demands, offering
high quality and state-of-the-art services as well as at-
tracting new customers is one of the strategic objec-
tives for Xalgq Bank. To be able to realize this objective
the Bank commits itself to improving the existing ser-
vices, offering new products in the future to enhance
its presence both in and outside Azerbaijan.
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Xalg Bank mustarilara daha genis cesidda xidmatlar
taklif etmak, xidmatin keyfiyyatini artirmag va bu-
nunla da mustarilarin mamnun galmasini tamin etmak
magsadil3 filial sabakasini genislandirir. Bela bir addimin
atilmasi bank sektorunda xidmatlarin tadrican ylksak
saviyyaya catdirilmasi va Xalg Bankin da bu prosesin
Onlinda getmasi ila alagadardir.

Bankin yeni filial va s6balari, 3sasan, bank xidmatlarina
talabat olan va yiksak siiratls inkisaf edan regionlarda
yaradilir. Acilan vyeni filial va sdbalards fiziki va
hiiqugi saxslara gabaqcil bank texnologiyalarindan
va miasir texnoloji modullardan istifads edarak,
blitiin név bank mahsullar va xidmatlari, o ciimladan
amanatlarin - gabulu, kreditlarin - verilmasi, plastik
kartlarin buraxilmasi, regionlararasi va beynalxalg pul
kéctrmalari lzra amaliyyatlar, kommunal 6danislarin
gabulu, kassa hesablasma xidmati va s. bu kimi bank
xidmatlari gostarilir.

Azarbaycanin paytaxtini va bitiin regionlarini shata
etmak Xalg Bankinin strateji inkisaf planinin vacib
hissasidir. Bels ki, mustari bazasinin artimi, xidmatin
keyfiyyatinin  yiiksaldilmasi  va xidmatin  potensial
mustarilarin camlasdiyi yerlara yaxinlasdirilmasi magsadi
il3 filial sabakasinin genislandirilmasi Xalg Bankin
strateji inkisaf planina tamamils uygun galir. Bankin
ugurlu faaliyyatinin mantigi davami olaraq 2008-ci ilda
Baki, Gancy, Yevlax va Calilabad saharlarinda yeni filial-
lar aciimisdir. Belalikl, 2008-ci ilin sonuna Xalq Bankin
Bakida, Gancads, Sumqayitda, Yevlaxda, Calilabadda,
Neftcalada, Zagatalada, Mingacevirds va Naxgivanda 8
filial va 2 sobasi faaliyyat gostarir. Bitin filiallar Bankin
korporativ Uslubuna cavab veran xlsusi dizaynda
tikilmis va an muasir avadanliq va program taminati ils
tachiz olunmusdur.

Bank xidmatinin effektivliyini artirmaq va mistari
bazasinin  genislandirilmasi  magsadila  2009-ci ilda
Bakida, ismay||||da, Davacids, Xacmazda va Lankaranda
da vyeni filiallarin va sobalarin  aciimasi nazarda
tutulub. Bizim magsadimiz  dlkanin  har  yerinds,
mustarilarin xidmatinda olan va shaliya keyfiyyatli bank
xidmatlarinin  gdstarilmasini tamin edan genis filial
sabakasi yaratmaqdr.

Olka daxilinda filial sabakasinin genislandirilmasi il
yanasl, Bankin strateji planlarina hamginin, beynalxalg
maliyys bazarlarina cixmaq da daxildir. Bu magsadla
Xalg Bankin yaxin galacskds Rusiya Federasiyas,
Ukrayna, hamcinin ABS, Avropa va Asiya o6lkalarinda
niimayandaliklarinin acilmasi planlasdirilir.

The Bank is taking actions to expand its branch office
network with an aim of ensuring better customer
satisfaction by broadening the range, and improving the
quality of its services. Addressing the quality increase
in the banking market Xalq Bank is taking the above
mentioned steps to stay on the front lines of those
changes.

The Bank presents new branch offices and service out-
lets primarily in those regions that have a high demand
for banking services and experience a rapid growth. The
newly opened branch offices and service outlets offer
all kinds of bank products and services, which includes
opening of saving accounts, issuing loans and credit
cards, inter-regional and international money transfers,
utility payments, cash settlements and other banking
services to both retail and corporate clients while em-
ploying the state-of-the-art banking technologies and
modern technological modules.

Xalqg Bank seeks to provide coverage for the capital city
and all regions of Azerbaijan as a part of its strategic
development plan. Another part of its strategic devel-
opment plan, Xalq Bank seeks to expand the Bank's
customer base, improve the quality of its services and
provide better access to its services in areas of greater
concentration of potential customers. As an entail-
ment of its successful operations, the Bank opened
new branch offices in Baku, Ganja, Yevlakh and Jal-
ilabad in 2008. Thus, as of the end of 2008 Xalq Bank
has 8 branch offices and 2 operating divisions in Baku,
Ganja, Sumgayit, Yevlakh, Jalilabad, Neftchala, Zagata-
la, Mingechevir and Nakhchivan. All branch offices are
designed and built after Xalg Bank's specific corporate
fashion and are equipped with the state-of-the-art
hardware and software.

The Bank is committed to open new branch offices and
divisions in Baku, Ismayilly, Devechi, Khachmaz and
Lenkoran in 2009 in order to improve the effectiveness
of its banking services and expand the customer base.
Qur overall goal is to create a broad branch office net-
work virtually throughout the country that would serve
customers and ensure delivery of high quality banking
services to the general public.

In addition to expanding the domestic branch office
network the Bank also seeks to enter international fi-
nancial markets as part of its strategic plans. To this
end, Xalg Bank is planning to set up offices in the Rus-
sian Federation, Ukraine as well as the USA, European
and Asian countries in the nearest future.
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Bas ofis

AZ1025, Baki, Babak pr., 1145.
Tel.: +994 (12) 496 81 52/53/54
Faks: +994 (12) 496 81 57

«Markaz» filial

AZ1010, Baki sah., 28 May kiic¢, 17

Tel.: (99412) 4933881

Faks: (99412) 4938336

Kod: 503585

"Sumqayit” filial

AZ5000, Sumgayit, 5 mkrn, S. Vurgun k., 16/132
Tel.: +994 (018) 642 41 20

Faks: +994(018) 642 39 02

"Zaqatala" filiah
AZ6200, Zaqatala, Nizami kig., 7
Tel.[Faks: +994 (174) 5 66 79

“Neftcala” filial

AZ4700, Neftcala, 20 Yanvar kiic., 18a
Tel.:  +994 (153) 2 30 58

Faks: +994 (153) 2 30 59

«Calilabadn» filiali

AZ1500, Calilabad sah., H.8liyev pr-ti, 142A
Tel.: (994 114) 35605

Faks:(994 114) 35607

Kod: 502445

«Yevlax» filiah

AZ6600, Yevlax sah., H.8liyev kiic., 47A

Tel.: (994 153) 23058

Faks: (994 153) 23059

Kod: 502519

“Mingacevir" filial

AZ4500, Mingacevir, M.FAxundov kicg., 15/16a
Tel.[Faks: +994 (147) 4 27 83, 4 06 54

"Gancd" filiah

AZ2000, dttarlar kii¢., 137
Tel.: (994 22) 523485
Faks: (994 22) 523486
Kod: 504023

“Naxgivan” sobasi
AZ8500, Naxcivan, H. Bliyev kig., 5
Tel.[Faks: +994 (136) 40 01 21

«Xazrin s6basi

Salyan sossesi, Sixov ¢imarliyi
"Ramada Baki" oteli

Tel.: (994 12) 491 7303

Faks: (994 12) 491 7313
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Head Office

1145, Babek ave., AZ1025, Baku, Azerbaijan
Tel: +994(12) 496 81 52/53/54

Fax: +994(12) 496 81 57

«Merkez» branch

17, 28 May str., AZ1010, Baku
Tel: (99412) 4933881

Fax: (99412) 4938336

Code 503585

"Sumgayit” branch

16/132, S. Vurgun str., 5 mikrodist., AZ5000, Sumgayit

Tel: +994(018) 642 41 20
Fax: +994(018) 642 39 02

"Zagatala" branch
7, Nizami str., AZ6200, Zagatala
Tel/Fax: +994(174) 5 66 79

“Neftchala" branch

18a, 20 Yanvar str., AZ4700, Neftchala
Tel: +994(153) 2 30 58

Fax: +994(153) 2 30 59

«Jalilabad» branch

142A, H.Aliyev ave., AZ1500, Jalilabad
Tel: (994 114) 35605

Fax:(994 114) 35607

Code: 502445

«Yevlakh» branch

47A, H.Aliyev str., AZ6600, Yevlakh
Tel: (994 153) 23058

Fax: (994 153) 23059

Code: 502519

“Mingechevir" branch
15/16a, M.FAkhundov str., AZ4500, Mingechevir
Tel: +994(147) 4 27 83, 4 06 54

“Ganja” branch

137, Attarlar str., AZ2000, Ganja
Tel: (994 22) 523485

Fax: (994 22) 523486

Code: 504023

"Nakhchivan" division
5, H.Aliyev str., AZ8500, Nakhchivan
Tel[Fax: +994 (136) 40 01 21

«Xazri» division

Salyan highway, Shikhov beach
Hotel "Ramada Baku"

Tel: (994 12) 491 7303

Fax: (994 12) 491 7313

INSAN RESURSLARI

HR POLICY




Insan resurslari

HR policy

Xalg Bankin kadr siyasatinin muhidm taraflarindan biri d3 amakdaslarin
motivasiyasidir. Bank, amakdaslarini amak haqgqginin indeksasiyasi, pulsuz tibbi
sigorta, guzastli kreditlasma va digar bu kimi sosial paketlarls tamin edir.

Xalq Bankin kadr siyasati pesakar iscilari calb etmakla
Bankin biznes va institusional magsadlarinin hayata
kecirilmasini tamin edan vahid komanda yaratmag-
dan ibaratdir. Mshz bu siyasatin ugurlu naticasi
olaraqg, biznesin effektiv idara edilmasi va kollektivin
samarali faaliyyati Xalg Banki Azarbaycanin aparici
banklari sirasina daxil etmisdir. Bu ugurun 3sas sababi
amakdaslarin iss masuliyyatla yanasmasi va onlarin
pesakarligidir.

Bankin inkisafinin asas harakatverici qlivvasi onun in-
san resurslarl v bu resurslardan samarali istifadadir.
Bu baximdan amak kollektivinin Gmumi hacminin 6tan
iI3 nisbatan 49% artaraq 245 nafara catmasi 2008-ci
ilda Bankin faaliyyatinin daha da genislanmasinin bariz
nimunasidir.

Bununla yanasi amakdaslarimizin uzun muddat bank
sektorunda calismasi (iscilarin 48%-nin 1-5 il arasinda,
11%-nin 6-10 va daha cox illar arasinda bank tacriibasi
var) va nisbatan ganc olmasi (orta yas haddi 32-dir, o
ctimladan amakdaslarin 60%-i 20-30 yas arasindadir)
personalin garsisina qoyulmus strateji hadaflara nail ol-
maqgda mistasna rol oynayir.

omakdaslarin sayi

2005

2006
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The Human Resource policy of Xalg Bank aims at build-
ing a strong team to be able to achieve the Bank's busi-
ness and institutional goals by recruiting professionals.
Being a success attributable to this policy, effective
management of business and efficient operation of
the personnel enabled Xalq Bank to become one of the
leading banks in Azerbaijan.

The principal force driving the Bank's development is its
human resources and effective use of these resources.
In this view, a 49% increase in personnel, thus reaching
a total number of 245 in 2008, indicates the further-
ance of the Bank's development.

In addition, the fact that 48% of the Bank's person-
nel have banking experience ranging from 1 to 5 years,
11% have experience from 6 to 10 and more years, with
average age of 32 as well as 60% of personnel ranging
from 20 to 30 years of age plays an important role in
achieving the strategic goals set forth to the person-
nel.

300
225

150 Number of employees

75

0

2008

Another important aspect of Xalg Bank's staff policy is motivation. The Bank of-
fers its employees salary indexation, free medical insurance, discounted lending

and other social arrangements.

AR

omakdaslarin
yas haddi

@® 20-30 ® 30-40

Bankin strateji maliyya hadaflaring catmasi ilk névbada
isci heyatindan, o climladan menecmentdan, onun
pesakarligi  va  tasabbiskarligindan asilidir.  Buna
gora do Bankda biznes strategiyasina uygun olaraq
amakdaslarin bilik va bacariglarinin artirilmasina xtsusi
diggat yetirilmis va bu magsadls Bankin amakdaslari bir
sira talim va seminarlarda istirak etmislar.

Xalg Bankin 6z amakdaslari Gglin yaratdig! is saraiti va
imkanlar mihiim shamiyyat kasb edir. Bankda yaranan
vakant yerlara iscilarin calb edilmasi zamani ilk ndvbada
Bankin daxili resurslarindan istifads olunmasina xi-
susi digqgat vyetirili. Bu da 6z novbasinda isgilarda
tasabbiskarhgdl, ylksak pesakarlig saviyyasini va korpo-
rativ madaniyyat keyfiyyatlarini inkisaf etdirir.

Xalg Bankin kadr siyasatinin miihiim taraffarindan biri
ds amakdaslarin  motivasiyasidir. Bank, amakdaslar
uctin amak hagqinin indeksasiyasl, pulsuz tibbi sigorta,
glizastli kreditlasma va bu kimi bir sira digar sosial
tadbirlari hayata kegirir.

Belalikls, Xalg Bankda insan resurslarinin idara edilmasi
va kadr siyasati ugurla hayata kecirilmis va 2008-ci ilda
bu sahads 6nam dasiyan istigamatlar daha da inkisaf
etdirilmisdir.

Age groups of
staff members

@ 40-50 @® 50-60

Ability to accomplish the Bank's strategic financial
goals depends primarily on the personnel, including
the management, its professionalism and expertise. In
this view, the Bank has been paying special attention
to improving the personnel's skills and knowledge in
accordance with the Business Strategy. To this end, the
Bank's staff members attended a number of internal
and external training courses and seminars.

The working environment and capacities provided by
Xalg Bank for its personnel are crucial. When there is
a job opening at the Bank, priority is given to the use
of the Bank's internal human resources. This also helps
promote the qualities of initiative, strive for high level
of professionalism and corporate culture in staff mem-
bers.

Another important aspect of Xalg Bank's staff policy
is a motivation. The Bank offers its employees a salary
indexation, free medical insurance, discounted lending
and other social arrangements.

Thus, the Bank has been able to successfully implement
its human resource management and staffing priorities
and further develop in 2008.
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Elmi-texniki taragqinin an son nailiyyatlaring asaslanmagla muasir informasiya
texnologiyalarinin tatbiginin genislandirilmasi 2008-ci ilds Bankin garsisinda
duran prioritet vazifalardan birina cevrilmisdir.

Yeni informasiya texnologiyalarinin tatbiginin  3sas
maqsadi miasirinformasiya texnologiyalarindan istifada
etmakla Bankin taklif etdiyi xidmatlarin keyfiyyatini
ylksaltmak, yeni xidmat névlarini yaratmaqg va bitiin
mastarilars yiksak saviyyali xidmat taklif etmakdir.
Mahz bu baximdan yeni informasiya texnologiyalarinin
totbigi Xalg Bankin yiksalisini tamin edsan mihim
gostaricilardan  biridir.  Elmi-texniki  taragginin = an
son nailiyyatlaring 3saslanmagla mdiasir informasiya
texnologiyalarinin tatbiginin genislandirilmasi 2008-
ci ilds Bankin garsisinda duran prioritet vazifalardan
birina cevrilmisdir. Bu tadbirlar asagidaki istigamatlar
Uzra hayata kecirilir:
®  9n miasir texnologiyalarin tatbiqi;
e Llisenziyalasdiriimis program taminatinin
alinmasi va tatbiqi;
® Texniki taminat va ixtisasli mutaxassislarin calb
edilmasi.

Xalg Bank bazarda artan ragabati, digar tarafdan isa
informasiya tahlikasizliyinin va Umumiyyatls Bankin
bltlin faaliyyatinin tahlikasizliyinin tamin edilmasini
nazara alarag, bu sahads daima yeni texnologiyalarin
arasdirilmasi va tatbiq edilmasini hayata kegirir.

2008-ci ilda Bankda istifada Gclin sada va cevik
IT-infrastruktur  hesab edilan  Verilanlarin - Markazi
idara edilmasi Sistemi va informasiyanin tahliikasiz
saxlaniimasini hayata keciran “Citrix" (Presentation
server va Thin-client) ugurla tatbig edilmisdir. Bun-
dan alava Bankda "R-Style Softlab" sirkatinin istehsali
olan tahliikasiz va funksional islama mexanizmi ils
farglanan yeni RS-Loans 5.1 modulu tatbig olunmusdur.
Yeni modul hesabina kreditlar Gizra effektiv monitorin-
qgin aparilmasi, mixtalif ndv hesabatlarin hazirlanmasi
hayata kecirilir. Tatbig olunan modul Bankin fiziki va
hiqugi saxslarin kreditlasdiriimasi tizrs amaliyyatlarinin
avtomatlasdiriimasini tamin edir, insan amilinin sistema
tasirini azaldir ki, bu da 6z névbasinda Bankin risklarinin
garsisinin alinmasina musbat tasir gostarir. 2008-ci ild3
Xalg Bank hamgcinin yeni RS-Retail 5.1 modulunu da
ugurla tatbiq etmisdir. Tatbig olunan yeni sistem Bankin
parakanda biznesinin inkisaf etdirilmasindy, xtisusila fiziki
saxslara gostarilan xidmatlarin keyfiyyatinin va gesidinin
coxaldilmasinda va elaca da gostarilan xidmatlardan
mustarilarin mamnunlug  saviyyasinin  artmasinda
mistasna rol oynayir. Bankin avtomatlasdirma sistemi-
nin - takmillasdirilmasi magsadils  hesabat ilinds RS-
Bank V5.1/V6 modulu da ugurla tatbiq olunmusdur. Bu
modul Bankin hiiqugi saxs gismindaki mustarilari iclin
daha da keyfiyyatli hesablasma-kassa amaliyyatlarinin
aparilmasina xidmat gostarir.

The introduction and employment of new latest state-
of-the-art information technologies has the objective
of improving the quality of banking services, developing
and promoting new products and services and ensuring
highest quality of service provision to all customers. In
this regard, implementation of new Information Tech-
nologies is one of the principal factors affecting and
supporting the growth of Xalq Bank. Expanded applica-
tion of the information technologies based on the lat-
est scientific developments has become a priority task
for the Bank in 2008. These activities have the following
objectives:
® Application of the latest state-of-the-art
technologies
e  Procurement and application of licensed
software
e  Ensure technical support, engage qualified
professionals

In 2008, the Bank successfully implemented a central
database management system considered as a user-
friendly and flexible, efficient IT infrastructure and
Citrix technology (Presentation server and Thin-client)
that ensures secure storage of information. In addition
to that a new RS-Loans 5.1 module was installed in the
bank that is a secure and functional product of "R-Style
Softlab" This module allows for better monitoring and
control of the loan portfolio. The application for this
module allowed for better loan automation process
and reduced the potential human factor effects on the
system which adds value for the risk reduction efforts of
the Bank. Another RS-Retail 5.1 module was successfully
installed in the Bank in 2008. This module allowed for
better quality of service and more diverse product
range delivered to the Bank's retail customers and
played an exceptional role in improvement of the client
satisfaction. Moreover, another module was introduced
for the purposes of improving the automation system
within the Bank. This module is RS-Bank V5.1/V6 which
aims to deliver Cash and Settlements services to the
corporate customers of the bank.

The establishment and successful handling of the
Azerfon Payment System center of Azerfon (owners of
“Nar Mobile" trademark), at Xalg Bank is considered to be
a major accomplishment. Under this project, Azerfon's
payment outlet, Xalq Bank's branch offices and divisions
as well as 31 banks operating in Azerbaijan have joined

X Xalq Bank
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Expanded application of the information technologies based on the latest scientific
developments has become a priority task for the Bank in 2008.

Azarbaycanda yeni nasil texnologiyalar tatbig edan
“Nar Mobile" amta3 nisanli "Azerfon” sirkstinin "Azerfon
Payment System" hesablama markazinin mahz Xalq
Bankda acilmasi va ugurla tatbig olunmasi 3ld3 olunan
mihim naticalardan biri kimi geyd oluna bilar.  Bu
layihs c¢arcivasinda Azarfonun &dama ndqgtalari, Xalg
Bankin filial va sébalari, hamcinin Azarbaycanda faaliyyat
gostaran 31 bank va onlarin 363 filial va sobalari bu
hesablama markazina qosularagq 6dsmalari bu markaz
vasitasila aparir. Bu layiha ils slagadar olarag Bankda
hamcinin xtisusi “HelpDesk " sistemi d3 qurulmusdur ki,
bu, sistemds bas veran problemlari hall edir, banklara
glindalik hesabatlar géndarir va blitlin 6dama néqtalari
lictin "qaynar xatt" taskil edir. Hayata kecirilan bu iri layiha
Bankin garsisina qoydudu strateji hadsflara catmasinda
vacib rol oynamisdr.

Bankda Microsoft, Oracle, Cisco, SWIFT, R-Style kimi
sirkatlarin ~ sertifikatlarini  gazanmis  mutaxassislarin
calismasi yeni informasiya Texnologiyalarinin tatbiginda
an mihlm faktorlardan biridir. Bankin kadr siyasating
uygun olaraq IT Idarasinin amakdaslari texniki biliklarini
va pesakarliq saviyyalarini artirmagq magsadi ils mixtalif
talimlara calb edilmisdir. Belalikls, Bankin inkisafinda yeni
informasiya texnologiyalarinin tatbigi daha da artmis va
gOrilan islar 2009-cu ild3 bu sahanin takmillasmasing
yonaldilmisdir.

the system and make payments through this center. In
connection to this, the Bank also set up a Help Desk
system, which addresses any problems that may arise
in the System, compiles and distributes daily reports to
banks and serves as a hotline for all payment outlets.
This large-scale project made a substantial contribution
to the accomplishment of the Bank's strategic goals
and targets.

At Xalg Bank our specialists from IT Department are
provided with all the necessary conditions for them to
participate on various professionally related trainings,
courses and seminars. Our experts constantly partici-
pate on the lectures and seminars organized by Oracle,
Cisco, SWIFT, R-Style and Microsoft that helps to con-
tribute significantly to the implementation of new in-
formation technologies.

Thus, the Bank has further expanded the application of
new Information Technologies and continues to pursue
the goal of improving this particular line of business in
2009.
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Details

Acig Sshmdar Camiyyati “Xalg" Banki

Qisaldilmis adi: Xalg Bank

Qeydiyyat: N1104-A1-414 Azarbaycan
Respublikasi 9dliyys Nazirliyi

Rasmi Unvan: 1145, Babak pr, AZ1025, Baki sah.,

) Azarbaycan Respublikasi

VOEN: 2000296061

Kod: 505055

SWIFT: HAJCAZ22

Tel.: +994 (12) 496 81 52/53/54

Faks: +994 (12) 496 81 57

Teleks: 142400 XALG Al

E-poct: mail@xalgbank.az

URL: www.xalgbank.az

Beynalxalg

auditor: BDO International

Faaliyyata

basladigi tarix: 24 Dekabr 2004-ci il

Lisenziya: Azarbaycan Respublikasi Milli Banki
tarafindan verilmis 27 Dekabr 2004-ci
il tarixli, 246 sayl lisenziya.

Filiallarin sayi: 8

Sébalarin sayi: 2

Iscilorin sayi: 245

Pesakar va ictimai taskilatlara iizviiliik:

® Xirda odanislar tizra hesablasmalar va kliring
sistemi (XOHKS)
Real vaxt rejiminda banklararasi hesablasmalar
sistemi (AZIPS)
SWIFT _
MasterCard International
VISA International
Western Union, Xpress Money, Bistraya Pocta va
Migom tacili pul kdgtirmalari sistemlari
Azericard milli 6danis sistemi
Azarbaycan Ipoteka Fondu
Azarbaycan 9manatlarin Sigortalanmasi Fondu
Baki Banklararasi Valyuta Birjasi
Azarbaycan Banklar Assosiyasiyasl
Azarbaycan-Rusiya Isguzar 9makdasliq Palatasi
Amerikanin Azarbaycanda Ticarat Palatasi (AM-
CHAM)
Avropa lgtisadiyyat, Ticarat, Sahibkarlig va Sanaye
palatasi (EEIG)

Osas maliyys gostaricilari:
Aktivlar: 403,70 min.manat
Kreditlar: 360,64 min.manat
omanatlar: 319,77 min.manat
Nizamnama

kapital: 53,55 min.manat

Name: Open Joint-Stock Company Xalq
Bank

Short name: Xalg Bank

Registration: 1104-A1-414 of Ministry of Justice
of Azerbaijan

Official address: 1145, Babek ave, AZ1025, Baku,
Azerbaijan

Tax ID: 2000296061

Code: 505055

SWIFT: HAJCAZ22

Tel: 994 (12) 496 81 52/53/54

Fax: 994 (12) 496 81 57

Telex: 142400 XALG Al

Email: mail@xalgbank.az

URL: www.xalgbank.az

Independent

auditor: BDO International

Date of

establishment: December 24, 2004

Licence: N246 issued by National Bank of
Azerbaijan Republic on December
27th, 2004.

Branches: 8

Retail divisions: 2

Staff: 245

Memebrship with professional and non-

professional organizations:

e Settlements and clearing system for small value
payments (XOHKS) .
Interbank real time settlements system (AZIPS)
SWIFT _

MasterCard International

VISA International

Money transfers systems (Western Union, Express
Money, Bistraya Pochta, Migom)

Azericard national payment system

Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund

Deposits Insurance Fund

Baku Interbank Currency Exchange

Azerbaijan Banks Association

Azerbaijan-Russian Chamber of Business
Cooperation

American Trade Chamber in Azerbaijan (AMCHAM)
European Chamber of economy, trade,
entrepreneurship and industry (EEIG)

Key financial indicators:

Assets: 403.70 mIin.AZN
Loans: 360.64 min.AZN
Deposits: 319,77 min.AZN
Statutory capital: 53,55 mIn.AZN
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ responsibilities
stated in the independent auditors’ report set out on pages 2, is made with a view to distinguishing the respective
responsibilities of management and those of the independent auditors in relation to the consolidated financial
statements of Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly the
financial position of the Group at 31 December 2008, and the results of its operations, cash flows and changes
in equity for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

» Selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;

* Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» Stating whether IFRS have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
consolidated financial statements; and

» Preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

» Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls, throughout the
Group;

» Maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial
position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group comply with IFRS;

» Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan;

» Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

» Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorized for issue on
15 April 2009 by the Management Board.

Approved for issue and sig_ned on behalf of the Management Board on 15 April 2009.

.,jll }

Atstlng Chief Accountant

M rs. Tamilla Asadova

Chairman 1 /
Mr. Asim Mammadli \
|
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Sharcholders and Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Report on the Financial Statement

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock
Company Xalq Bank, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as st 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statements of changes in equity
and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2008, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
e the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies: and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumsiances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial
statements are [ree from material misstatement,

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 1o design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
ol the consolidated financial statements.

Mordking Konts ne IVTSUNLADDO 00346948 1. A'S "SER Latvijas Unibanka®, Vecnigas filijle. Riga
Kods LINLALYYX. Red nr DOOF0ASTT. PVN kods -A000303577 1

Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

IBDO

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Cpinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank as at 31 December 2008,
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

As disclosed in Note 4 the accompanying financial statements have been restated

“BDO Invest Riga” ISC
Certified auditors Commercial Company
Licence No. 112 p

D.Tunsts |,/ . %1 A Putning
lm\:ruﬂlinnnl.ILiﬂ,i,wrf Partner The responsible certified auditor
. T Certificate No. 123

Riga. Latvia
April 15, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 (IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 (IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers
Factoring

Investments available-for-sale
Investments in associates
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY

Share capital

Retained earnings
Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Notes

23
24

25

26

31 December 2008

24,419,977
1,382,282
7,831,765

336,211,511

42,586
6,320,414
6,038,186

343,725

52,843

894,918

383,538,207

6,698,660

317,084,329

137,424

41,201

1,201,186

325,162,800

53,550,000

4,689,744

135,663

58,375,407

383,538,207

31 December 2007 as
restated

22,001,735
12,933,271
153,391,038
3,360,340
42,851
5,100,000
5,497,923
5,313,604
330,083
35,793
1,017,225

209,023,863

11,526,578

137,779,099

231,954

230,102

1,165,086

150,932,819

53,550,000

4,404,890

136,154

58,091,044

209,023,863

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 15 April 2009
I

Chairman 7
Mr. Asim Mammadli

E.Eu ng Chief Accountant
Mrs. Tamilla Asadova

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 55 form an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements

Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

31 December 2007 as
previously reported

22,095,998
12,932,941
153,391,038
3,360,340
1,633,115
5,100,000
5,497,923
330,083
35,793
1,035,890

205,413,121

11,526,578
137,874,415
231,954
208,849
851,382

150,693,178

53,550,000
1,169,943

54,719,943

205,413,121

Notes Year ended 31 Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
December 2008 2007 as restated 2007 as previously
reported
Interest income 6 41,233,775 17,304,312 17,304,312
Interest expense 6 21,292,259 7.776.800 1.776.800
NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON INTEREST BEARING ASSETS 19,941,516 9,527,512 9,527,512
Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing
assets 7 18,537,357 4,967,100 4,967,100
NET INTEREST INCOME 1,404,159 4,560,412 4,560,412
Net gain/(loss) on sale of investments in associates 19 151,200 - -
Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange operations 9 3,072,255 (58,491) (58,491)
Net gain/(loss) on gold operations 8 32,245 - -
Fee and commission income 10 2,663,781 1,908,649 1,908,753
Fee and commission expense 10 (328,921) (277,540) (277,482)
Gain on revaluation of investment property 21 724,582 - -
Negative Goodwill 5 - 3,475,597 -
Other income 41,009 27323 22,676
NET NON-INTEREST INCOME 6,356,151 5,075,538 1,695,456
OPERATING INCOME 7,760,310 9,635,950 6,155,868
OPERATING EXPENSES 1 (7.331,799) (3.675,668) (3.445,761)
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 428,511 5,960,282 2,710,107
Provision for impairment losses on guarantees and
other commitments 7 94,530 231,954 231,954
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 523,041 5,728,328 2,478,153
Income tax expense 12 238,678 194,309 173,056
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) 284,363 5,534,019 2,305,097
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 284,854 5,540,044 2,305,097
Non-controlling interest 491 6.025 -
284,363 5,534,019 2,305,097
EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic and diluted (AZN) 13 0.133 2.986 1.243

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 15 April 2009

it y / ‘;

E’E_iing Chief Accountant
Mrs. Tamilla Asadova

Chairman K f
Mr. Asim Mammadli J

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 55 form an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

31 December 2005

Share capital increase
Net Profit / (Loss)

31 December 2006

Share capital increase

Non-controlling interest on acquisition date
Net profit [ (loss)

31 December 2007 as restated

Share capital increase
Net Profit / (Loss)

31 December 2008

Share capital

6,250,000

3,750,000

10,000,000

43,550,000

53,550,000

53,550,000

(Accumulated
deficit)/retained
earnings

(263,859)

871,295
(1,135,154)

5,540,044

4,404,890

284,854

4,689,744

Non-controlling

interest Total equity
- 5,986,141

) 3,750,000
E— 871,295
- 8,864,846

- 43,550,000
142,179 142,179
6.025 5,534,019
136,154 58,091,044
41 284363
135,663 58,375,407

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 15 April 2008

Chairman i B & ?
Mr. Asim Mammadli |/ |/ (%

E&ing Chiefl Accountant
Mrs, Tamilla Asadova

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 55 form an integral part of

these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Adjustments for:

Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing
assets

Provision for guarantees and other commitments

Net unrealized loss [ (gain) arising from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates

Negative Goodwill

Depreciation and amortization

Gain on revaluation of investment property

Loss [ (gain) on disposal of property and equipment
Loss [ (gain) on disposal of intangible assets
Change in interest accruals, net

Cash flows from operating activities before changes
in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Minimum reserve deposit with the National Bank of
the Republic of Azerbaijan

Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers

Factoring

Other assets

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Due to banks and government agencies
Customer accounts
Other liabilities

Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities
before taxation

Income tax paid

Net cash outflow from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, equipment and intangible
assets

Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Sale | (purchase) of investments available-for-sale

Sale [ (purchase) of investments in associates

Net cash inflow [ (outflow) from investing activities

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes Year ended 31

December 2008

523,041

7 18,537,357
7 (94,530)

(1,858,104)

5 -
20 1,088,461
21 (724,582)
6,887

18,761

3,720,613

21,217,904

(1,601,832)
(1,382,282)
(1,047,981)
(204,414,098)
3,163,989
122,307

(4,733,651)
178,769,329
36,100

9,870,215
444,630

10,314,845

20 (1,950,242)

265
19 5,100.000

3,150,023

Year ended 31 December
2007 as restated

5,728,328

4,967,100
231,954

341,450
(3,475,597)
671,760

(4,908)
3,676,837

4,783,250

(7,394,869)

(2,087,991)
(98,382,859)
(3,360,340)
(552,232)

8,177,044
74,283,840
996.079

23,538,078

23,538,078

(3,446,321)
27,839
(1,590,264)
(224)
(5.100,000)

10,108,970

Year ended 31 December
2007 as previously
reported

2,478,153

4,967,100
231,954

341,450

671,760

(4,908)
3,804,664

4,880,845

(7,394,869

(2,119,729
(98,416,724
(3,228,561

)
)
)
(483,308)

8,358,175
74,084,675
800,804

23,518,692

23,518,692

(3,598,747)
27,839

(1,590,264)
5,100,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 (CONTINUED)
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Notes Year ended 31 Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
December 2008 2007 as restated 2007 as previously
reported
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Issue of ordinary share capital - 43,550,000 43,550,000
Net cash inflow from financing activities - 43,550,000 43,550,000

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents 1,858,104 (341,450) (114,371)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,306,718) 9,561,502 9,655,765
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 15,534,536 5,973,034 5,973,034
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year 14 10,227,818 15,534,536 15,628,799

Interest paid and received by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to AZN 20,850,626
and AZN 44,512,754, respectively.

Interest paid and received by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to AZN 7,373,229
and AZN 13,096,077, respectively.

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 15 April 2008

=/

E&ing Chief Accountant
Mrs. Tamilla Asadova

Chairman Wi/ [
Mr. Asim Mammadli )

iy,

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 55 form an integral part of

these consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

1. Background

Xalg Bank (the "Bank") is a joint stock company which was established on 24 December 2004 in accordance with
establishment agreement and was registered by the National Bank of Azerbaijan on 27 December 2004. The address
of its registered office is 1145 Babek Avenue, Baku, AZ 1025, Azerbaijan. The Bank is requlated by the National Bank
of Azerbaijan (the "NBA") and conducts its business under the general banking license number 246. The Bank had
8 branches in Azerbaijan as at 31 December 2008. The Bank's primary business consists of commercial activities,
trading with foreign currencies, originating loans and guarantees.

The number of employees of the Bank at 31 December 2008 and 2007 was 250 and 163, respectively.

The Bank is a parent company of a banking group (the "Group”) which consists of the following enterprises consolidated
in the financial statements:

The Bank ownership interest / voting rights, %

Name Country of operation 2008 2007 Type of operation
Xalq Kapital LLC The Republic of Azerbaijan 100 % 100% Securities market transactions
Baki Ayaggabi -2 0JSC The Republic of Azerbaijan 97.27% 97.27% Dormant

“Xalg Kapital" LLC is a limited liability company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan on 17 August 2007. The
company's principal activity is operations with securities, broker and dealer operations.

“Baki Ayaqqgabi -2" 0JSC is a Joint Stock Company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan in December 1980. The
Company's principal activity had been the manufacture of footwear. The Company has not been functioning since
June 1999. The Group has acquired the controlling interest in the Company's capital with the primary purpose of using
it as investment property. The Group's management is still uncertain of the detailed plans regarding the Company.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the following shareholders owned the issued shares of the Bank:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Ownership interest, % Ownership interest, %
Ideal Biznes Ko LLC 50.00 50.00
Yevro Standart LLC 33.85 33.85
Avangard-1 LLC 16.15 16.15
Total 100 100

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is L.Aliyeva.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Management Board on 15 April 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(CONTINUED) (IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

2. Basis of Presentation
Accounting basis

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and Interpretations issued
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC"). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Azerbaijan Manats ("AZN") unless otherwise indicated. These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the measurement at fair value of certain financial
instruments and measurement of buildings at revalued amounts according to International Accounting Standard
("IAS") No. 16 "Property, Plant and Equipment".

The Group maintains its accounting records in accordance with Azerbaijan law. These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared based on the Azerbaijani statutory accounting records and have been adjusted to conform with
IFRS. These adjustments include certain reclassifications to reflect the economic substance of underlying transactions
including reclassifications of certain assets and liabilities, income and expenses to appropriate financial statement
captions.

Key assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Such estimates and assumptions are based on the information
available to the Group's management as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, actual results
could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Estimates that are particularly susceptible to change relate to the
provisions for impairment losses and the fair value of financial instruments.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial period include:

ocemerzong S DT 0 1 Desente 200
Loans to customers 336,211,511 153,391,038 153,391,038
Factoring - 3,360,340 3,360,340
Investments available for sale 42,586 42,851 1,633,115
Investments in associates - 5,100,000 5,100,000
Property and equipment 6,320,414 5,497,923 5,497,923
Investment Property 6,038,186 5,313,604 -

Loans to customers are measured at amortized cost less allowance for impairment losses. The estimation of allowances
for impairments involves the exercise of significant judgment. The Group estimates allowances for impairment with
the objective of maintaining balance sheet provisions at a level believed by management to be sufficient to absorb
losses incurred in the Bank's loan portfolio. The calculation of provisions on impaired loans is based on the likelihood
of the asset being written off and the estimated loss on such a write-off. These assessments are made using statistical
techniques based on historic experience. These determinations are supplemented by the application of management
judgment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

The Group considers accounting estimates related to provisions for loans key sources of estimation uncertainty
because: (i) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period as the assumptions about future default
rates and valuation of losses relating to impaired loans and advances are based on recent performance experience,
and (ii) any significant difference between the Group's estimated losses (as reflected in the provisions) and actual
losses will require the Group to take provisions which, if significantly different, could have a material impact on
its future income statement and its balance sheet. The Group's assumptions about estimated losses are based on
past performance, past customer behavior, the credit quality of recent underwritten business and general economic
conditions, which are not necessarily an indication of future losses.

Investments available-for-sale are measured at fair value less impairment losses. The estimation of impairment losses
involves the exercise of significant management judgment. The accounting policy for the impairment of financial
instruments is discussed in Note 3 below.

Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (the "functional currency”).
The reporting currency of the financial statements is the Azerbaijan Manats ("AZN").

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities controlled by
the Bank (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Bank has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at
the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets
acquired (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited to the consolidated income statement in the period of acquisition.
The minority interest is stated at the minority's proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognized.
Subsequently, any losses applicable to the minority interest in excess of the minority interest are allocated against the
interests of the parent. The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent and net income attributable to minority
shareholders' interests are shown separately in the consolidated balance sheet and income statement, respectively.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with
those used by the Group.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The difference, if any, between the carrying amount of minority interest and the amount received on its purchase is
recognized in equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint
control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting.

Investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for goodwill and for
post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value
of individual investments. Losses of the associates in excess of the Group's interest in those associates are not
recognized.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is included in
the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any deficiency of
the cost of acquisition below the Group's share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the associate at the date of acquisition (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in the consolidated income
statement in the period of acquisition.

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in the relevant associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary as
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognized as an asset at cost and is subsequently measure at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

If the Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the Group:

(a) Reassesses the identification and measurement of the Group's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination; and

(b) Recognizes immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment.

On disposal of an investment, the amount of goodwill attributable is included in the determination of financial result
from disposal.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments

The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet when it becomes a party to
the contractual obligation of the instrument. Regular way purchase and sale of the financial assets and liabilities
are recognized using settlement date accounting. Regular way purchases of financial instruments that will be
subsequently measured at fair value between trade date and settlement date are accounted for in the same way as
for acquired instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial
liability not at fair value through profit or loss transaction costs that are directly attributable to acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability. The accounting policies for subsequent re-measurement of these items are
disclosed in the respective accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent and time deposit accounts
with the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan with original maturity within 90 days, advances to banks in
countries included in the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development ("OECD"). For the purposes of
determining cash flows, the minimum reserve deposit required by the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan is
not included as a cash equivalent due to restrictions on its availability (Note 14).

Gold

Assets and liabilities denominated in gold are translated at the current rate computed based on the National Bank
rate effective at the date. Changes in the bid prices are recorded in net gain on operations with gold.

Fiduciary activities

The Group provides depositary services to its customers which include transactions with securities on their
depositary accounts. Assets accepted and liabilities incurred under the fiduciary activities are not included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements. The Group accepts operational risks relating to these activities, whereas
the Group's customers bear the credit and market risks associated with such operations.

Due from banks

In the normal course of business, the Group maintains advances and deposits for various periods of time with other
banks. Due from banks with a fixed maturity term are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, and are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses. Those that do not have fixed maturities
are stated at amortized cost based on expected dates of maturity. Amounts due from credit institutions are carried
net of any allowance for impairment losses.

Loans to customers

Loans to customers are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market other than those classified in other categories of financial assets.

Loans to customers granted by the Group with fixed maturities are initially recognized at fair value plus related
transaction costs, directly attributable to the acquisition or creation of qualifying financial assets. Where the fair
value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the loan, for example where the loan is issued at lower
than market rates, the difference between the fair value of consideration given and the fair value of the loan is
recognized as a loss on initial recognition of the loan and included in the consolidated income statement according
to nature of these losses. Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans
to customers are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses.

The Group will take possession of any collateral held as security when a customer defaults on repayments of the loan
and the loan cannot be renegotiated. The Group will engage a third party to dispose of the collateral on their behalf
in the open market.

Factoring Assets

Factoring assets are non-derivative assets with determinable payments. These assets are initially recognized at fair
value and any costs directly related to creation of qualifying financial assets.

Where the fair value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the factoring asset the difference between
the fair value of consideration given and the fair value of the asset is recognized as a loss on initial recognition of the
asset and included in the consolidated income statement according to nature of these losses. Subsequently, factoring
assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method and are carried net of any allowance for
impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Write-off of loans and advances

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are reflected as an offset to the charge for impairment of
financial assets in the consolidated income statement in the period of recovery.

Allowance for impairment losses
Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group accounts for impairment losses of financial assets that are not carried at fair value when there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. The impairment losses are measured as
the difference between carrying amounts and the present value of expected future cash flows, including amounts
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Such
impairment losses are not reversed unless if in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, such as
recoveries, in which case the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting an allowance account.

For financial assets carried at cost the impairment losses are measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, a consolidated amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized
in the consolidated income statement, is transferred from equity to the consolidated income statement. Reversals
of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognized in the
consolidated income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the
consolidated income statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss were recognized in the consolidated income statement.

The determination of impairment losses is based on an analysis of the risk assets and reflects the amount which,
in the judgment of management, is adequate to provide for losses incurred. Provisions are made as a result of an
individual appraisal of risk assets for financial assets that are individually significant, and an individual or collective
assessment for financial assets that are not individually significant.

The change in impairment losses is charged to profit either through allowance account (financial assets that are
carried at amortized cost) or direct write-off (financial assets carried at cost). The total of the impairment losses is
deducted in arriving at assets as shown in the balance sheet. Factors that the Group considers in determining whether
it has objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred include information about the debtors' or issuers'
liquidity, solvency and business and financial risk exposures, levels of and trends in delinquencies for similar financial
assets, national and local economic trends and conditions, and the fair value of collateral and guarantees. These and
other factors may, either individually or taken together, provide sufficient objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred in a financial asset or group of financial assets.

It should be understood that estimates of losses involve an exercise of judgment. While it is possible that in particular
periods the Group may sustain losses which are substantial relative for impairment losses, it is the judgment of
management that the impairment losses are adequate to absorb losses incurred on risk assets, at the balance sheet
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Investments available-for-sale

Investments available-for-sale represent debt and equity investments that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time. Such securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequently the securities are measured at fair
value, with such re-measurement recognized directly in equity until sold when gain/loss previously recorded in equity
recycles through the consolidated income statement, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains or losses
and interest income accrued using the effective interest method, which are recognized directly in the consolidated
income statement. The Group uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value for the Group's investments
available-for-sale. If the market for investments is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using a valuation
technique. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing
parties, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis and other applicable methods. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to
price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in
actual market transactions, the Group uses that technique. Dividends received are included in dividend income in the
consolidated income statement.

Non-marketable debt and equity securities are stated at amortized cost and cost, respectively, less impairment losses,
if any, unless fair value can be reliably measured.

When there is objective evidence that such securities have been impaired, the cumulative loss previously recognized
in equity is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated income statement for the period. Reversals of
such impairment losses on debt instruments, which are objectively related to events occurring after the impairment,
are recognized in the consolidated income statement for the period. Reversals of such impairment losses on equity
instruments are not recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment property comprises land or buildings, which are held in order to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both, and which are not occupied by the companies in the Group or otherwise held for sale. Property held under
operating lease is classified as investment property if, and only if, it meets the definition of an investment property.

Investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition of the property. If this information is not available, the Group uses
alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow projections.

Changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in the income statement.
Premises, equipment and intangible assets

Property, equipment and intangible assets are carried at historical cost (except for buildings, which are stated at
revalued amounts) less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any recognized impairment loss. Depreciation
on assets under construction and those not placed in service commences from the date the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Depreciation of property, equipment and amortization of intangible assets is charged on their historical cost and is
designed to write off assets over their useful lives. It is calculated on a straight line basis at the following annual
rates:

Building 5%
Furniture and equipment 25%
Computers 25%
Vehicles 25%
Other equipment 20%
Intangible assets 10%

The carrying amounts of property, equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and where the carrying values exceed the
estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts. Impairment is recognized
in the respective period and is included in operating expenses. After the recognition of an impairment loss the
depreciation charge for property and equipment is adjusted in future periods to allocate the assets' revised carrying
value, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Land and buildings held for use in supply of services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, determined from market-
based evidence by appraisal undertaken by professional independent valuers, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
such that the carrying amount of the assets does not differ materially from that which would be determined using
fair values at the balance sheet date.

Market value of property is assessed using three methods:
® The comparable sales method which involves analysis of market sales prices for similar real estate property;

® The income-based method which assumes a direct relationship between revenues generated by the property and
its market value;

¢ The cost method which presumes the value of property to be equal to its recoverable amount less any depreciation
charges.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of property is credited to the property, plant and equipment
and equipment revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset
previously recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement, in which case the increase is credited to
the consolidated income statements to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount
of an asset arising on the revaluation is charged as an expense to the income statement to the extent that it exceeds
the balance, if any, held in the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation
of that asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to the consolidated income statement. Upon the retirement or sale of
buildings, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax expense for the current period is determined
on the basis of the taxable profit received in the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax expense is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted during the reporting period.

Deferred tax is reported using the balance sheet liability method and represents income tax assets and liabilities
on the temporary difference between the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the respective tax accounting
data used to arrive at the taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the respective deferred tax assets can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in transactions that affect neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that a related tax benefit will be realized sufficient for full or partial recovery of the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset by the Group with the resulting difference reported in the financial
statements if:

® The Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the current tax assets and current tax liabilities; and

e Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxpayer.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Due to banks and customer accounts

Due to banks and customer accounts are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently amounts due are stated at
amortized cost and any difference between carrying and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the balance sheet but are disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow in
settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet but disclosed when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Financial guarantee contracts issued

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are credit insurance that provides for specified payments to be
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due under
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantee contracts issued are initially recognized
at fair value. Subsequently they are measured at the higher of (a) the amount recognized as a provision and (b) the
amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization of initial premium revenue received over
the financial guarantee contracts issued.

Share capital
Share capital is recognized at cost.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a reduction in the period in which they are declared.
Dividends that are declared after the balance sheet date are treated as a subsequent event under International
Accounting Standard 10 "Events after the Balance Sheet Date" ("IAS 10") and disclosed accordingly.

Retirement and other benefit obligations

In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan, the Group withholds amounts
of pension contributions from employee salaries and pays them to the state pension fund. Such expense is charged
in the period the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement all retirement benefit payments are made by the
state pension fund. The Group does not have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension system
of Azerbaijan, which requires current contributions by employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary
payments. In addition, the Group has no post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated benefits requiring
accrual.

Recognition of income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis using effective interest method. The effective interest
method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of financial
assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down (partly written down) as a result
of an impairment loss, interest income is thereafter recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Interests earned on assets at fair value are classified within interest income.

Loan origination fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate of the loan. Where it is probable that a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending
arrangement, the loan commitment fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the resulting loan. Where it is unlikely that a loan commitment will lead to
a specific lending arrangement, the loan commitment fees are recognized in the consolidated income statement over
the remaining period of the loan commitment. Where a loan commitment expires without resulting in a loan, the loan
commitment fee is recognized in the consolidated income statement on expiry. Loan servicing fees are recognized as
revenue as the services are provided. All other commissions are recognized when services are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Azerbaijan Manats at the
appropriate spot rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for
at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Profits and losses arising from these translations are
included in net gain on foreign exchange operations.

Rates of exchange

The exchange rates at the yearend used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
as follows:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

USD 1 = AZN 0.8010 USD 1 = AZN 0.8453
EUR 1 = AZN 1.1292 EUR 1 = AZN 1.2450
GBP 1 = AZN 1.1621 GBP 1 = AZN 1.6876
RUR 1 =AZN 0.0272 RUR 1 = AZN 0.0346

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segments with a
majority of revenue earned from sales to external customers and whose, revenue, results are ten per cent or more
of all the segments are reported separately. No geographical segments of the Group have been reported separately
within these consolidated financial statements as all operations are conducted within Azerbaijan.

Offset of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net on the consolidated balance sheet when the Group has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis or to
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not
qualify for derecognition, the Group does not offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.

Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations and new accounting pronouncements

Certain new IFRSs became effective for the Group from 1 January 2008. Listed below are those new or
amended standards or interpretations which are relevant to the Group's operations and the nature of their
impact on the Group'’s accounting policies.

IAS 39, 'Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement' and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures' on the
‘Reclassification of financial assets' (Effective for annual periods beginning or after 1 July 2008) - This amendment
allows the reclassification of certain financial assets previously classified as ‘held-for-trading' or ‘available-for-sale’
to another category under limited circumstances. Various disclosures are required where a reclassification has been
made. Derivatives and assets designated as ‘at fair value through profit or loss' under the fair value option are
not eligible for this reclassification. Given the urgency of the issue, due process was suspended and there was no
comment period. Amendment confirms that any reclassifications made on or after 1 November 2008 should take
effect only from the date of the reclassification and may not be backdated. The amendment does not have an impact
on the Group's and the Bank's financial statements as no reclassification was made by the Group and the Bank in the
reporting year.
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IFRIC 11, "IFRS 2 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007) - Group and treasury share
transactions'. This interpretation provides guidance on whether share-based transactions involving treasury shares
or involving group entities (for example, options over a parent's shares) should be accounted for as equity-settled or
cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone accounts of the parent and group companies. This
interpretation does not have a significant impact on the Group's and the Bank's financial statements.

Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that become effective for the accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods and which are relevant to the Group but not
early adopted by the Group.

IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (revised September 2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2009) - The main change in IAS 1 is the replacement of the income statement by a statement of
comprehensive income which will also include all non-owner changes in equity, such as the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets. Alternatively, entities will be allowed to present two statements: a separate income statement
and a statement of comprehensive income. The revised |AS 1 also introduces a requirement to present a statement
of financial position at the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever the entity restates comparatives
due to reclassifications, changes in accounting policies, or corrections of errors. The Group expects the revised IAS 1
to impact the presentation of its financial statements but to have no impact on the recognition or measurement of
specified transactions and balances.

IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (revised January 2008, effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to
be recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains
and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-
measured to fair value and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group and the Bank is currently assessing
the impact of the amended standard on its financial statements.

IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ (revised January 2008, effective for business combinations for which the acquisition
date s on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The revised IFRS
3 will allow entities to choose to measure non-controlling interests using the existing IFRS 3 method (proportionate
share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets) or at fair value. The revised IFRS 3 is more detailed in providing
guidance on the application of the purchase method to business combinations. The requirement to measure at fair
value every asset and liability at each step in a step acquisition for the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill
has been removed. Instead, in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer will have to remeasure its
previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognise the resulting gain or
loss, if any, in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs will be accounted for separately from the business combination
and therefore recognised as expenses rather than included in goodwill. An acquirer will have to recognise at the
acquisition date a liability for any contingent purchase consideration. Changes in the value of that liability after the
acquisition date will be recognised in accordance with other applicable IFRSs, as appropriate, rather than by adjusting
goodwill. The revised IFRS 3 brings into its scope business combinations involving only mutual entities and business
combinations achieved by contract alone. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on
its financial statements.
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Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2008). In 2007, the International
Accounting Standards Board decided to initiate an annual improvements project as a method of making necessary, but
non-urgent, amendments to IFRS. The amendments issued in May 2008 consist of a mixture of substantive changes,
clarifications, and changes in terminology in various standards. The substantive changes relate to the following areas:
classification as held for sale under IFRS 5 in case of a loss of control over a subsidiary; possibility of presentation of
financial instruments held for trading as non-current under IAS 1; accounting for sale of IAS 16 assets which were
previously held for rental and classification of the related cash flows under IAS 7 as cash flows from operating activities;
clarification of definition of curtailment under IAS 19; accounting for below market interest rate government loans in
accordance with IAS 20; making the definition of borrowing costs in IAS 23 consistent with the effective interest rate
method; clarification of accounting for subsidiaries held for sale under IAS 27 and IFRS 5; reduction in the disclosure
requirements relating to associates and joint ventures under IAS 28 and IAS 31; enhancement of disclosures required
by IAS 36; clarification of accounting for advertising costs under IAS 38; amending the definition of the fair value
through profit or loss category to be consistent with hedge accounting under IAS 39; introduction of accounting for
investment properties under construction in accordance with IAS 40; and reduction in restrictions over manner of
determining fair value of biological assets under IAS 41. Further amendments made to IAS 8, 10, 18, 20, 29, 34, 40, 41
and to IFRS 7 represent terminology or editorial changes only, which the IASB believes have no or minimal effect on
accounting.The Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect on the financial statements. The
Group does not expect the amendments to have any material effect on the financial statements.

Areas of significant management judgment and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amount of income
and expenses during the period ended. Management evaluates its estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis.
Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. The following estimates and judgments are considered important to the portrayal of the
Group's financial condition.

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess for impairment. The Group's loan impairment
provisions are established to recognize incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans and receivables. The
Group considers accounting estimates related to allowance for impairment of loans and receivables a key source of
estimation uncertainty because (i) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period as the assumptions
about future default rates and valuation of potential losses relating to impaired loans and receivables are based on
recent performance experience, and (i) any significant difference between the Group's estimated losses and actual
losses would require the Group to record provisions which could have a material impact on its financial statements
in future periods.

The Group uses management's judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a borrower
has financial difficulties and there are few available sources of historical data relating to similar borrowers. Similarly,
the Group estimates changes in future cash flows based on past performance, past customer behavior, observable
data indicating an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, and national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the
group of loans and receivables. The Group uses management's judgment to adjust observable data for a group of
loans or receivables to reflect current circumstances not reflected in historical data.
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The allowances for impairment of financial assets in the consolidated financial statements have been determined
on the basis of existing economic and political conditions. The Group is not in a position to predict what changes in
conditions will take place in the Republic of Azerbaijan and what effect such changes might have on the adequacy of
the allowances for impairment of financial assets in future periods.

The carrying amount of the allowance for impairment of loans to customers is AZN 25,542,526 and AZN 6,940,597
as at 31 December 2008 and 2007.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments that are classified as available for sale. The fair value of such financial instruments is the estimated
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other thanin a
forced or liquidation sale. If a quoted market price is available for an instrument, the fair value is calculated based on
the market price. When valuation parameters are not observable in the market or cannot be derived from observable
market prices, the fair value is derived through analysis of other observable market data appropriate for each product
and pricing models which use a mathematical methodology based on accepted financial theories. Pricing models take
into account the contract terms of the securities as well as market-based valuation parameters, such as interest rates,
volatility, exchange rates and the credit rating of the counterparty. Where market-based valuation parameters are not
directly observable, management will make a judgment as to its best estimate of that parameter in order to determine
a reasonable reflection of how the market would be expected to price the instrument. In exercising this judgment,
a variety of tools are used including proxy observable data, historical data, and extrapolation techniques. The best
evidence of fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the instrument is
evidenced by comparison with data from observable markets. Any difference between the transaction price and the
value based on a valuation technique is not recognized in the consolidated income statement on initial recognition.
Subsequent gains or losses are only recognized to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor that market
participants would consider in setting a price.

The Group considers that the accounting estimate related to valuation of financial instruments where quoted markets
prices are not available is a key source of estimation uncertainty because: (i) it is highly susceptible to change from
period to period because it requires management to make assumptions about interest rates, volatility, exchange
rates, the credit rating of the counterparty, valuation adjustments and specific feature of the transactions and (i) the
impact that recognizing a change in the valuations would have on the assets reported on its balance sheet as well

as its profit/(loss) could be material.

Had management used different assumptions regarding the interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, the credit rating
of the counterparty and valuation adjustments, a larger or smaller change in the valuation of financial instruments
where quoted market prices are not available would have resulted that could have had a material impact on the
Group's reported net income. The carrying amount of the financial instruments at fair value is as follows as at 31
December 2008 and 2007:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007 as 31 December 2007 as
restated previously reported
Available-for-sale investments 42,586 42,851 1,633,115
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4. Prior Period Adjustments

In 2008 the Group management discovered errors in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.
In accordance with IAS 8 "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors”, the correction of the
errors was made retrospectively. Comparative amounts were restated and corrections were applied to earliest prior
period presented.

The Group's management determined that the consolidated accounts of the Group as of 31 December 2007 lacked
the elimination of the bank account balance of 95,317 AZN of "Xalg Kapital" LLC within the Parent's customer
accounts in compliance with IAS 27 "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements".

The Group's management also considered that the acquisition of 97.27% ownership interest in the "Baki Ayaggabi
-2" 0JSC during the year ended 31 December 2007 should be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 "Business
Combinations” and consolidated as at 31 December 2007 as required by IAS 27 "Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements".

The Group's management discovered that the Group's profit tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2007 had
been understated by AZN 21,253. In this connection relevant corrections have been made to the prior year income
tax expense, income tax liability balances and relevant note disclosures.

5. Business Combination
In 2007 the Group acquired in a step acquisition the controlling interest in share capital of "Baki Ayagqabi -2" 0JSC.

The Group acquired 67.26% of the acquiree's shares on 26 January 2007 and 30.01% of the acquiree's shares on 14
March 2007.

The consideration paid by the Group was based on the results of the revaluation as of the dates of acquisition of the
acquree's Property, plant and equipment carried by the independent appraiser and internal appraisal of the acquiree's
business taken as a whole. However, in accordance with IFRS 3 "Business combinations”, the Group must account for
acquisitions based on fair values of all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed.
Moreover, since the acquiree had no financial statements available as of the dates of the acquisition as mentioned
above, the Group accounted for the business combination based on the IFRS balance sheets and income statements
of the acquiree as of 1 January 2007.

These two different approaches can lead to differences in the recognition of the excess of the net fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost ("negative goodwill") immediately in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007.
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The details of the assets and liabilities acquired and negative goodwill arising is as follows:

Investment property
Cash and cash equivalents
Other liabilities

Fair value of net assets of subsidiary

Fair value of acquired interest in subsidiary

Excess of net assets over consideration paid (negative goodwill)
Total purchase consideration

Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired
Inflow of cash and cash equivalents on acquisition

6. Net Interest Income

Interest income comprises
interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost:

- interest income on assets that hase been written down as a result of an impairment loss

- interest income on unimpaired assets
Total Interest income

Interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost comprises:
Interest on loans to customers

Interest on due from banks

Interest on factoring

Interest on debt securities

Interest on other operations

IFRS carrying amount immediately before
business combination

January
acquisition
67.26%

5,313,604
2
(105,567)

Total interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost

Interest expense comprises:
Interest on customer accounts
Interest on due to banks and government agencies

Total interest expense on financial assets recorded at amortized cost

Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on interest bearing assets
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March
acquisition
30.01%

5,313,604
2
(105,567)

Year ended 31
December 2008

38,592,077
2,641,698

41,233,775

40,656,278
396,649
102,778

78,070

41,233,775

20,919,285
372974

21,292,259

19,941,516

Attributed fair value

5,313,604
2
105,567

5,208,039
5,065,860
3,475,597

1,590,263

(2)
1,590,261

Year ended 31
December 2007

11,500,272
5,804,040

17,304,312

16,540,196
601,146
93,573
68,095
1302

17,304,312

7,436,549

340,251

1,776,800

9,527,512
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7. Allowance For Impairment Losses, Other Provisions

The movements in allowance for impairment losses on interest earning assets were as follows:

Loans to

customers Factoring
31 December 2006 2,038,069 -
(Recovery of provision)/provision 4,902,528 64,572
31 December 2007 6,940,597 64,572
(Recovery of provision)/provision 18,601,929 (64,572)
31 December 2008 25,542,526 -

Total

2,038,069

4,967,100

7,005,169

18,537,357

25,542,526

The movements in provision for impairment losses on guarantees and other commitments were as follows:

31 December 2006

Provision

31 December 2007

Recovery of provision

31 December 2008

8. Net Gain/(Loss) on Gold Operations

Net gain/(loss) on gold operations comprise:

Year ended
31 December 2008

Net gain/(loss) on gold operations 42,892
Translation difference on gold 10,647
Total net gain/(loss) on gold operations 32,245
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Guarantees and other

commitments

231,954
231,954
94,530

137.424

Year ended
31 December 2007
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9. Net Gain/(Loss) on Foreign Exchange Operations

Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange operations comprise:

Dealing differences, net
Translation differences, net

Total net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange operations

10. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

Fee and commission income and expense comprise:

Fee and commission income:
Cash operations

Foreign exchange operations
Settlements

Plastic cards operations
Guarantee letters

Letters of credit

Other

Total fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense:
Plastic cards operations
Settlements

Cash operations

Foreign exchange operations
Documentary operations
Other

Total fee and commission expense
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Year ended
31 December 2008

933,104
722,456
653,954
206,102
124,704
21,042
2419

2,663,781

172,522
126,187
21,914
2,420

5878

328921

Year ended
31 December 2008

1,214,151
1,858,104

3.072,255

Year ended
31 December 2007
as restated

685977
496,619
368,532
144,970
184,600
27,175
776

1,908,649

115,462
109,848
28,986
3,786
9,726
9732

277,540

Year ended
31 December 2007

282,959
341,450

(58.491)

Year ended

31 December 2007 as

previously reported

686,003
496,623
368,552
145,024
184,600
27,175
776

1.908,753

115,462
109,790
28,986
3,786
9,727
9731

277,482
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11. Operating Expenses

Operating expenses comprise:

Staff costs

Depreciation and amortization

Advertising and marketing expenses

Payments to the Deposit Insurance Fund of the Republic of
Azerbaijan

Communications

Operating leases

Security expenses

Professional services fees

Stationery expenses

Transportation and business trip expenses

Repairs and maintenance expenses

Taxes, other than income tax

Entertainment

Membership fees

Insurance

Loss on disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets
Utilities

Other expenses

Total operating expenses

12. Income Taxes

Year ended 31
December 2008

3,022,870
1,088,461
756,362

655,128
366,352
289,229
237,836
111,950
101,264
117,807
96,333
86,031
79,259
52,893
45,342
25,649
38,871
160,162

7,331,799

Year ended 31
December 2007 as
restated

1,415,624
671,761
221,819

167,042
273,896
7274
58,026
135,350
106,710
80,217
92,804
58,374
45,028
29,184
12,753

30,868
268,938

3.675.668

Year ended 31
December 2007 as
previously reported

1,367,861
671,760
221,819

167,042
273,257
7274
58,026
135,350
106,624
79,274
92,777
55,317
45,028
29,184
12,753

20,784
101,631

3,445,761

The Group provides for taxes based on the tax accounts maintained and prepared in accordance with the tax
regulations of countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate and which may differ from International

Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to non-tax deductibility of certain expenses and a tax
free regime for certain income. The statutory income tax rate is 22%.

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

Temporary differences as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 relate mostly to different methods of income and expense
recognition as well as to recorded values of certain assets.
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Temporary differences as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 comprise:

Deductible temporary differences:

Allowance for losses on loans to customers
Loans origination fee

Amortization

Depreciation

Accrued interest on deposits

Total deductible temporary differences

Taxable temporary differences:

Provision reversal on off balance items
Depreciation

Amortization

Provision reversal for loans to banks
Total taxable temporary differences

Net deferred deductible temporary differences

Net deferred tax asset at the statutory tax rate (22%)
Less: deferred tax assets not recognized

Net deferred tax asset

31 December 2008

884,302
61,931
1,260

(505,815)
(201,481)

707,296

240,197
52,843

52,843

31 December 2007

(580,096)
(482)
112,817
693,395

162,697
35,793

35,793

Relationships between tax expenses and accounting profit for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are

explained as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate

Tax effect of permanent differences
Losses not recognized

Income tax expense

Current income tax expense

Provision for deferred income tax assets

Income tax expense

28

Year ended
31 December 2008

523,041
115,069
123,609

238,678
255,728
17.050
238,678

Yesr ended
31 December 2007
as restated

5.728.328
1,260,232
(928,495)

137,428
194,309
230,102

35,793
194,309

Yesr ended
31 December
2007 as previously
reported

2,478,153
545,194
(234,710
137,428
173.056
208,849
35793
173.056
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Deferred income tax assets

Beginning of the period

Change in the income tax assets for the period charged to profit
End of the period

13. Earnings Per Share

The earnings per share are calculated as follows:

Profit / (loss):
Net profit/(loss) for the year

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings
per share

Earnings/(loss) per share - basic and diluted (AZN)

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Year ended 31
December 2008

31 December 2008

Year ended 31
December 2007 as
restated

5.540,044

1,855,129

Cash and balances with the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan comprise:

Cash on hand
Balances with the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan

Total cash and balances with the National Bank of the
Republic of Azerbaijan

31 December 2008

5,700,350
18,719,627

24,419,977

31 December 2007
as restated

3,513,814
18,487,921

22,001,735

31 December 2007

Year ended 31
December 2007 as
previously reported

2,305,097

1,855,129

31 December
2007 as previously
reported

3,608,077
18,487,921

22,095,998

The balances with the NBA as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 include AZN 15,133,886 and AZN 13,532,054,
respectively, which represent the minimum reserve deposits required by the NBA. The Bank is entitled to use all funds
on its correspondent account provided that average daily balance for 15 days period will be eventually higher than

required mandatory reserve.
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Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows comprise:

Cash and balances with the National Bank of the Republic of
Azerbaijan

Due from banks in OECD countries

Less minimum reserve deposit with the National Bank of the
Republic of Azerbaijan

Less restricted deposit in OECD counties

Total cash and cash equivalents

15. Due from Banks

Due from banks comprise:

Correspondent accounts with other banks
Loans and time deposits with other banks
Restricted deposits

Total due from banks

31 December 2008

24,419,977
4,561,841
28,981,818

(15,133,886)
3,620,114
10,227,818

31 December 2008

4,174,805

3,656,960

1,831,765

31 December 2007
as restated

22,001,735
7,064,855
29,066,590

(13,532,054)

15,534,536

31 December 2007
as restated

7,230,548
5,667,220
35,503

12,933,271

31 December
2007 as previously
reported

22,095,998
7,064,855
29,160,853

(13,532,054)

15,628,799

31 December
2007 as previously
reported

7,230,219
5,667,219

35,503

12,932,941

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 accrued interest income included in due from banks amounted to nil and AZN

26,360, respectively.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the maximum credit risk exposure of due from banks amounted to AZN 7,831,765

and AZN 12,932,271, respectively.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Bank had restricted deposits blocked in support of guarantees issued and
plastic cards operations and money transfers totaling AZN 3,659,960 and AZN 35,503, respectively. As at 31 December
2008 the amount of blocked deposits was for guarantees issued to two customers of the Bank which represent
significant risk conscentration.

16. Loans to Customers

Loans to customers comprise:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Loans to customers 361,754,037 160,331,635
Less allowance for impairment losses 25,542,526 6,940,597
Total loans to customers 336,211,511 153,391,038

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 accrued interest income included in loans to customers amounted to AZN 1,167,476
and AZN 4,223,744, respectively.
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Movements in allowances for impairment losses for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are disclosed in

Note 7.

The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by collateral, rather than the fair value of the collateral

itself:

Loans collateralized by real estate

Loans collateralized by vehicles

Loans collateralized by guarantees

Loans collateralized by tractors

Loans collateralized by cash

Loans collateralized by shares of other entities
Loans collateralized by equipment

Loans collateralized by inventories

Loans collateralized by other collateral
Unsecured loans

Less allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to customers

Analysis by industry
Transportation and communication
Trading

Manufacturing

Construction

Individuals

Agriculture

Energy

Other

Less allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to customers

Less allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to customers
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31 December 2008

33,300,813
4,007,580
2,237,751
1,764,378
1,521,334

601,839

56,839
318,263,503

361,754,037

25,542,526
336,211,511

31 December 2008

156,550,269
86,020,497
62,277,347
36,866,827
18,667,316

1,328,669

43,112

361,754,037
(25,542,526)
336,211,511
25,542,526
336,211,511

31 December 2007

18,061,910
3,871,447
223,557
1,392,535
39,738,439
100,571
10,326,138
82,552
18,284,696
68,249,790

160,331,635

6,940,597
153,391,038

31 December 2007

71,435,174
48,699,264
7,482,722
3,970,921
11,673,895
789,163
11,656,206
4,624,290

160,331,635
(6.940,597)
153,391,038

6,940,597
153,391,038
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Loans to individuals comprise the following products:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Consumer loans 11,276,461 2,364,038
Mortgage loans 4,181,894 4,460,038
Car loans 1,867,486 2,559,575
Business loans 1,000,134 2,180,784
Plastic cards 341,341 109,460

18,667,316 11,673,895
Less allowance for impairment losses 2,792,983 302,394
Total loans to customers 15,874,333 11,371,501

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Bank granted 7 and 12 loans totaling AZN 318,718,335 and AZN 99,198,000,
respectively, which individually exceeded 10% of the Group's equity.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the maximum credit risk exposure of loans to customers amounted to AZN
336,211,511and AZN 153,391,038, respectively.

Asat 31 December 2008 and 2007 loans to customersincluded loans inamount of AZN 13,606,966 and AZN 36,696,647,
respectively, whose terms have been renegotiated. Otherwise these loans would be past due or impaired.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 318,288,786 and AZN
120,311,966, respectively, that were individually determined to be impaired.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 83% and 62% of total amount of loans to customers are given to 4 and 6 entities,
respectively.

A significant amount of loans (100% of loans to customers) is granted to companies operating in the Republic of
Azerbaijan, which represents significant geographical concentration in one region.

17. Factoring

Factoring comprises:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Factoring operations with the customers - 3,424912
Less allowance for impairment losses. - 64,572
Total factoring - 3.360.340

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 accrued interest income included in factoring amounted to nil and AZN 196,351,
respectively. Movements in allowances for impairment losses for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are
disclosed in Note 7.

Asat 31 December 2008 and 2007 the maximum credit risk exposure of factoring amounted to nil and AZN 3,360,340,
respectively.
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As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 factoring included amount of nil and AZN 3,424,912, respectively, that was
individually determined to be impaired. As at 31 December 2007 this amount was unsecured.

As at 31 December 2007 100% of factoring amount is given to 1 entity. As at 31 December 2007, 100% of the
factoring amount relates to company operating in the Republic of Azerbaijan, which represents significant geographical
concentration in one region.

18. Investments Available-for-Sale

Investments available-for-sale comprise:

31 December 2008 Share 31 December 2007 as Share 31 December 2007 as

% restated % previously reported
Equity securities
Millikart LTD 1 40,000 1 40,000 1 40,000
SWIFT SCRL 2,586 2,851 2,851
Baki-Ayaqgabi 2 0JSC - - 97.27 1,590,264
Total equity securities 42,586 42,851 1,633,115

19. Investments In Associates

The following enterprises were recorded in the consolidated financial statements using the cost method:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Ownership interest Carrying value Ownership interest Carrying value
Kapital Bank 0JSC - 20 5,100,000
Total investments in associates - 5,100,000

In December 2008 the Group's investment into the share capital of Kapital Bank was sold for 5,251,200 AZN. Income
from sales of the investment totalled 151,200 AZN.
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20. Premises, Equipment and Intangible Assets

Assets Total

Intangible

Total Premises
& Equipment

Construction
in progress

Furniture & Other
Equipment Equipment

Buildings Computers Vehicles

Land

369,624 652,348 960,592 32,524 120,570 3,409,339 302,306 3,711,645

1,273,681

Cost at 31 December 2006

207,247 400,008 689,212 36,891 1,539,795 3,352,126 94,195 3,446,321
(46,853)

478,973

Additions

(47,284)

(47,284)

(431)
(2,042)

Disposals

(357) (553,038)

138,525

396,868

20,044

Transfers

1,788,329 69,058 1,107,327 6,714,181 396,501 7,110,682

1,005,503

574,398

2,149,522

20,044

Cost at 31 December 2007

1,950,242

75,139
(26,059)

754,125 23,303 208,156 1,875,103
(2,556)

560,862

328,657

Additions

(40,560)

(14,501)

(7,931)

(4,014)

Disposals

(1,158,383)

1,158,383

Transfers

157,100 8,574,783 445,581 9,020,364

89,805

3,307,905 899,041 1,566,365 2,534,523

20,044

Cost at 31 December 2008

(33,499) (635,269)

(601,770)

(168,866) (9,200)

(103,909) (187,933)

(131,862)

Accumulated Depreciation at 31

December 2006

(671,760)

(32,919)

(638,841)

(116,033) (199,677) (241,416 (10,001)

(71,714)

Charge for the year

Disposals
Transfers

24,353

24,353

24,353

(1,170)

1,170

(1,282,676)

(66,418)

(1,216,258)

(218,772) (363,257) (411,452) (19,201)

(203,576)

Accumulated Depreciation at 31

December 2007

(1,088,461)

(42,736)

(1,045,725)

(14,156)

(434,280)

(290,287)

(183,823)

(123,179)

Charge for the year

Disposals

14,912

7,298

7,614

1,256

4,245

2,113

(2.356,225)
5,828,006
6,664,139

(101,856)
330,083
343,725

(2.254,369)
5,497,923
6,320,414

1,107,327
157,100

(32,101)
49,857
57,704

(841,487)
1,376,877
1,693,036

(653,544)
642,246
912,821

(400,482)
355,626
498,559

(326,755)
1,945,946
2,981,150

20,044
20,044

Transfers
Accumulated Depreciation at 31

December 2008
NBV at 31 December 2007
NBV at 31 December 2008

Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Investment property at fair value at 1 January

Additions through business combinations
Fair value gains

Investment properties at 31 December

Details of valuation of investment property:

31 December 2008

5,313,604

724,582

6.038.186

31 December 2007

5,313,604

5,313,604

The Group holds its investment property for the purposes of capital appreciation and possible future rental out to
third parties. The fair value of investment property as at 31 December 2008 was determined on 26 March 2009 by
AlS Azintellektservice, who holds a recognized professional qualification. The basis used for the appraisal was market

value.

22. Other Assets

Other assets comprise:

Prepayments and receivables on other transactions
Prepayments for purchase of property and equipment
Deferred expenses

Prepaid operating taxes

Accrued interests on letters of credit

Prepayments for purchases of intangible assets

Settlements on money transfers

Total other assets

23. Due to Banks and Government Agencies

Due to banks and government agencies comprise:

Amount due to Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund
Loans from banks

Loans from the NBA

Correspondent accounts of other banks

Total due to banks and government agencies

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

31 December 2008

382,261
181,740
163,009
124,397
29,246
8,230
6,035

894,918

31 December 2007
as restated

41,332
174,849
452,275
127,826
216,159

4,784

1,017,225

31 December 2008

3,703,882
1,988,463
1,000,000

6.315

6.698.660

31 December
2007 as previously
reported

59,997
174,849
452,275
127,826
216,159

4,784

1.035.890

31 December 2007

2,968,651
1,784,480

6.773.447

11,526,578
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As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 accrued interest expense included in due to banks and government agencies
amounted to AZN 16,893 and AZN 111,161, respectively.

As at 31 December 2008 the loan from the National Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan was secured by the pledge
of the Bank's real estate belonging to one of the Bank's customers and pledged to the Bank as collateral for a loan
issued to this customer (valued in the amount of AZN 2,000,000).

24. Customer Accounts

Customer accounts comprise:

31 December
31 December 2008 31 December 2007 2007 as previously
as restated

reported
Time deposits 227,314,307 86,677,365 86,677,365
Repayable on demand 89,770,022 51,101,734 51,197,050
Total customer accounts 317,084,329 137,779,099 137,874,415

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 accrued interest expense included in customer accounts amounted to AZN
1,090,037 and AZN 554,136, respectively.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 customer accounts amounting to AZN 162,457,628 and AZN 55,234,054 were due
to 7 and 9 customers representing a significant concentration, being approximately 51% and 40%, respectively.

31 December

31 December 2007 2007 as previously

31 December 2008 as restated

reported
Individuals 205,055,921 79,924,095 79,924,095
Trade 75,144,690 12,588,857 12,684,173
Insurance 17,924,853 11,738,042 11,738,042
Transport and communication 14,603,836 23,057,093 23,057,093
Construction 2,223,449 9,096,589 9,096,589
Energy 1,653,711 1,173,129 1,173,129
Manufacturing 424890 198,970 198,970
Agriculture 137,607 - -
Other 15,372 2,324 2,324
Total customer accounts 317,084,329 137,779,099 137,874,415
36 Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

25. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

31 December
31 December 2008 31 December 2007 2007 as previously
as restated

reported
Taxes other than income tax 330,935 323,326 35,598
Settlements on money transfers and plastic cards 241,524 444 643 444643
Accrued expenses 204,636 40,350 33,416
Payables to the employees 177,228 21,136 19,449
Payables to the Deposit Insurance Fund 166,915 97,393 97,393
Professional fees payable 51,966 73,160 73,160
Payables to the State Social Protection Fund 17,136 51,896 34,541
Deferred revenue 2,000 102,778 102,778
Other 8,846 10,404 10,404
Total other liabilities 1,201,186 1,165,086 851,382

26. Share Capital

As of 31 December 2007 the Group's shareholders' authorized, issued and fully paid capital amounted to AZN
53,550,000 and comprised 2,142,000 ordinary shares with a par value of AZN 25. Each share entitles one vote to the
shareholder.

During 2007 shareholders' capital of the Group was increased by AZN 43,550,000.

27. Financial Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in order to
meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not reflected in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit loss under contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit, in
the event of non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral or security prove valueless, is
represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments.

The Group's uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet commitments
as it does for on-balance operations.

Provision for losses on contingent liabilities amounted to AZN 137,424 and AZN 231,954 as at 31 December 2008 and
2007, respectively.
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As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, the nominal or contract amounts and the risk amounts were:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Nominal Amount Risk Weighted Nominal Amount Risk Weighted

Amount Amount
Contingent liabilities and credit
commitments
Guarantees issued and similar 6,904,420 6,904,420 13,766,047 13,766,047
commitments
Letters of credit and other
transaction related contingent 12,427,840 6,213,920 11,700,770 5,850,385
obligations
Commitments on credits and 9,621,090 4,810,545 6,101,389 2,773,391
unused credit lines
Total contingent liabilities and 28,953,350 17,928,885 31,568,206 22,389,823

credit commitments

Capital commitments - The Group had no material commitments for capital expenditures outstanding as at 31
December 2008.

Legal proceedings - From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received
from customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no material unaccrued losses will be incurred
and accordingly no provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group is receiving claims from individual customers with respect to certain commissions withheld by the Group
for loan agreements service. Management is of the opinion that such claims would not have adverse consequences for
the Group, and is in the process of establishing procedures on disclosing additional information in loan agreements in
compliance with the NBA instruction.

Taxes - Azerbaijan commercial legislation and tax legislation in particular may give rise to varying interpretations and
amendments. In addition, as management's interpretation of tax legislation may differ from that of the tax authorities,
transactions may be challenged by the tax authorities, and as a result the Group may be assessed additional taxes,
penalties and interest. Tax years remain open to review by the tax authorities for three years. Management believes
that the Group has already made all tax payments that are due, and therefore no provisions have been made in these
consolidated financial statements for any potential liabilities.

Pensions and retirement plans - Employees receive pension benefits from the Republic of Azerbaijan in accordance
with the laws and regulations of the country. As at 31 December 2007 the Group was not liable for any supplementary
pensions, post-retirement health care, insurance benefits, or retirement indemnities to its current or former
employees.

Operating environment - The Group's principal business activities are within Azerbaijan. Laws and regulations
affecting the business environment in Azerbaijan are subject to rapid changes and the Group's assets and operations
could be at risk due to negative changes in the political and business environment.
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28. Transactions with Related Parties

Related parties or transactions with related parties in the Group, as defined by IAS 24 "Related party disclosures”,
represent:

(a) Parties that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries: control, or are controlled by, or are under
common control with, the Group (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries); have an interest in

the Group that gives then significant influence over the Group; and that have joint control over the Group;

(b) Associates - enterprises in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint

venture of the investor;

() Members of key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

=

Close members of the family of any individuals referred to in (a) or (c);

(e) Parties that are entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (c) or (d).

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and
not merely the legal form. The Group had the following transactions outstanding as at 31 December 2008 and 2007

with related parties:

31 December 2008

31 December 2007 as restated

31 December 2007 as
previously restated

Related party
balances

Total category
as per financial
statements
caption

Related party
balances

Total category
as per financial
statements
caption

Related party Total category
balances  as per financial
statements
caption

Loans to customers

361,754,037

160,331,635

160,331,635

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned by
shareholders of the Group

6,000,000

2,100,000

2,100,000

- key management personnel of the entity

817,335

75,312

75,312

Allowance for impairment losses

(25,542,526)

(6,940,597)

(6,940,597)

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned by
shareholders of the Group

(120,000)

(126,000)

(126,000)

- key management personnel of the entity

(29,897)

(4.818)

(4.818)

Investments in associates

5,100,000

5,100,000

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned b
shareholders of the Group

5,100,000

5,100,000

Customer accounts

317,084,329

137,779,099

137,874,415

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned by
shareholders of the Group

5,675,044

11,135,623

11,135,623

- key management personnel of the entity

458,797

3,965,082

3,965,082

Guarantees issued

6,904,420

13,766,047

13,766,047

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned by
shareholders of the Group

2,403,000

445271

445,271

Unused loan commitments

9,621,090

11,700,770

11,700,770

- shareholders and entities in which
a substantial interest is owned by
shareholders of the Group

26,858

26,858
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31 December 2008

31 December 2007 as restated

31 December 2007 as
previously restated

Related party  Total category

Related party  Total category

Related party Total category

balances as per financial balances as per financial balances  as per financial
statements statements statements
caption caption caption
Key management personnel
compensation:
short-term employee benefits 280,955 3,022,870 244,342 1,415,624 244,342 1,367,861

Included in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are the following

amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:

31 December 2008

31 December 2007 as restated

31 December 2007 as
previously restated

Related party  Total category

Related party

Total category

Related party Total category

balances as per financial balances as per financial balances  as per financial
statements statements statements
caption caption caption

Interest income 41,233,775 17,304,312 17,304,312
- shareholders and entities in which

a substantial interest is owned by 810,000 237,667 237,667

shareholders of the Group
- key management personnel of the entity 37,956 9,797 9,797
Interest expense (21,292,259) (7,776,800) (7,776,800)
- shareholders and entities in which

a substantial interest is owned by (939,635) (939,635)

shareholders of the Group
- key management personnel of the entity (89,161) (336,619) (336,619)
Fee and commission income 2,663,781 1,908,649 1,908,753
- shareholders and entities in which

a substantial interest is owned by 1,000 66,733 66,733

shareholders of the Group
- key management personnel of the entity 47,390 206 206
Other income 41,009 27,323 22,676
- shareholders and entities in which

a substantial interest is owned by 87 12,000 12,000

shareholders of the Group
Operating expense (7,331,799) (3,675,668) (3,445,761)
- key management personnel of the entity - (244,342) (244,342)
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29. Segment Reporting

The Group's activity is sufficiently integrated and primarily relates to the banking sector. Accordingly, for purposes
of IAS 14 "Segment reporting” the Group is accounted for as a single segment. The Group's assets are located in
the Republic of Azerbaijan and major parts of its revenue and net profit arrives from operations in the Republic of
Azerbaijan. The Group's operations include transactions with banks, legal entities and individuals. Data on other
transaction balances and their results are provided in the respective notes to the consolidated financial statements.

30. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Estimated fair value disclosures of financial instruments are made in accordance with the requirements of |AS 32
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
Fair value is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction, other than in forced or liquidation sale. The estimates
presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize in a market exchange from
the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities compared with the corresponding carrying amount in the consolidated
balance sheet of the Group is presented below:

31 December 2007 as

31 December 2008 .
previously restated

31 December 2007 as restated

Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value

amount amount amount
Cash and cash equivalents 24,419,977 24,419,977 22,001,735 22,001,735 22,095,998 22,095,998
Due from banks 7,831,765 7,831,765 12,933,271 12,933,271 12,932,941 12,932,941
Investments in associates - - 5,100,000 5,100,000 5,100,000 5,100,000
Due to banks and government

6,698,660 6,698,660 11,526,578 11,526,578 11,526,578 11,526,578

agencies

Customer accounts 317,084,329 317,084,329 137,779,099 137,779,099 137,874,415 137,874,415

The fair value of loans to customers cannot be measured reliably as it is not practicable to obtain market information
or apply any other valuation techniques on such instruments.

The fair value of equity securities included in investments available-for-sale cannot be measured reliably. As at 31
December 2008 and 2007 the cost of them was 42 586 and AZN 42,851, respectively. Since these shares are not
publicly traded and the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant, it is not possible to estimate their fair
value.

31.Regulatory Matters

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Group to maintain minimum
amounts and ratios (as set forth in the table below) of total (8%) and tier 1 capital (4%) to risk weighted assets.

The ratio was calculated according to the principles employed by the Basel Committee by applying the following risk
estimates to the assets and off-balance sheet commitments net of allowances for impairment

Weighting Description

0% Cash and cash equivalents

20% Nostro in OECD

100% Nostro in NON-OECD

20% Loans and advances to banks for up to 1 year

100% Loans and advances to customers

100% Other assets

50% Obligations and commitments on unused loans with the initial maturity of over 1 year
100% Guarantees
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As at 31 December 2008 the Group's total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 58,031,682 and
tier 1 capital amount was AZN 58,031,682 with ratios of 16% and 16%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2007 the Group's total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 54,719,943 and
tier 1 capital amount was AZN 54,719,943 with ratios of 35% and 35%, respectively.

In addition, the Group has to maintain a statutory capital adequacy ratio based on the National Bank of Azerbaijan
requirements. During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group was in compliance with the minimum
capital requirements imposed by the NBA.

32. Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Management Board reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this review, the Board
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Board, the Group balances its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group's overall capital risk management policy remains unchanged from 2006.
33. Risk Management Policies

Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Group's operations. The
main risks inherent to the Group's operations are those related to credit exposures, liquidity and market movements
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. A description of the Group's risk management policies in relation to those
risks follows. The Group manages the following risks:

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.

Risk management and monitoring is performed within set limits of authority, by the Credit Committees and the
Group's Management Board. Before any application is made by the Credit Committee, all recommendations on credit
processes (borrower's limits approved, or amendments made to loan agreements, etc.) are reviewed and approved
by the experts of Credit Department. Daily risk management is performed by the Head of Credit Departments and
Branch.

Credit Divisions.

The Group structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation
to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry (and geographical) segments. Limits on the level of credit
risk by a borrower and a product (by industry sector, by region) are approved monthly (quarterly) by the Management
Board. The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering
on and off-balance sheet exposures which are set by the Credit Committee. Actual exposures against limits are
monitored daily.

Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the Group obtains collateral and corporate and personal guarantees
but a significant portion is personal lending, where no such facilities can be obtained. Such risks are monitored on a
continuous basis and subject to annual or more frequent reviews.
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Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.
The credit risk on off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as a probability of losses due to the inability of
counterparty to comply with the contractual terms and conditions. With respect to credit risk on commitments
to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of the loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend
credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group applies the same credit policy
to the contingent liabilities as it does to the balance sheet financial instruments, i.e. the one based on the procedures
for approving the grant of loans, using limits to mitigate the risk, and current monitoring. The Group monitors the
term to maturity of off balance sheet contingencies because longer term commitments generally have a greater
degree of credit risk than short-term commitments.

Maximum Exposure

The Groups maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependant on both individual risks and general
market economy risks. The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of financial assets and
contingent liabilities. For financial assets the maximum exposure equals to a carrying value of those assets prior to
any offset or collateral. For financial guarantees and other contingent liabilities the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the maximum amount the Group would have to pay if the guarantee was called on or in the case of commitments,
if the loan amount was called on.

31 December 2008

Maximum Net exposure  Collateral Net exposure after offset and

exposure  after offset Pledged collateral

Due from banks 7,831,765 7,831,765 - 7,831,765
Loans to customers 336,211,511 336,211,511 17,948,008 318,263,503
Factoring - - - -
Investments available-for-sale 42,586 42,586 - 42,586
31 December 2007 as restated

Maximum Net exposure  Collateral Net exposure after offset and

exposure  after offset Pledged collateral

Due from banks 12,933,271 12,933,271 - 12,933,271
Loans to customers 153,391,038 153,391,038 85,141,248 68,249,790
Factoring 3,360,340 3,360,340 - 3,360,340
Investments available-for-sale 42,851 42,851 - 42,851
Investments in associates 5,100,000 5,100,000 - 5,100,000
31 December 2007 as

previously reported

Maximum Net exposure  Collateral Net exposure after offset and

exposure  after offset Pledged collateral

Due from banks 12,932,941 12,932,941 - 12,932,941
Loans to customers 153,391,038 153,391,038 85,141,248 68,249,790
Factoring 3,360,340 3,360,340 - 3,360,340
Investments available-for-sale 1,633,115 1,633,115 - 1,633,115
Investments in associates 5,100,000 5,100,000 - 5,100,000
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Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been issued by an internationally regarded
agency. The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment grade financial assets have ratings from AAA to BBB. Financial
assets which have ratings lower than BBB are classed as speculative grade.

The following table details the credit ratings of financial assets held by the Group:

31 December

2008

AAA AA A BBB < BBB Not rated Total

Due from banks - 4,561,841 - - 3,268,475 1,449 7,831,765

Loans to customers - - - - - 336,211,511 336,211,511
Investments available-for-sale - - - - - 42,586 42,586

31 December
2007 as restated

AAA AA A BBB <BBB Not rated Total

Due from banks - 7,064,855 - - 5,447,783 420,633 12,933,271

Loans to customers - - - - - 153,391,038 153,391,038

Factoring - - - - - 3,360,340 3,360,340

Investments available-for-sale - - - - - 42,851 42,851
Investments in associates - - - - 5,100,000 - 5,100,000

31 December

2007 as

previously

reported

AAA AA A BBB < BBB Not rated Total

Due from banks - 7,064,855 - - 5,447,783 420,303 12,932,941

Loans to customers - - - - - 153,391,038 153,391,038

Factoring - - - - - 3,360,340 3,360,340

Investments available-for-sale - - - - - 1,633,115 1,633,115
Investments in associates - - - - 5,100,000 - 5,100,000

The banking industry is generally exposed to credit risk through its financial assets and contingent liabilities. Credit
risk exposure of the Group is concentrated within the Republic of Azerbaijan. The exposure is monitored on a regular
basis to ensure that the credit limits and credit worthiness guidelines established by the Group's risk management
policy are not breached. The Group enters into numerous transactions where the counterparties are not rated by
international rating agencies.

Rating model

The Group has developed internal rating model, which allow it to determine the rating of counterparties. The rating of
corporate borrower is based on an analysis of the financial ratios of the borrower, and an analysis of the market and
industry sector, in which the borrower operates. The model also takes into consideration various qualitative factors,
such as management efficiency and borrower's market share.

The application of the internal rating model results in a standardized approach in the analysis of corporate borrowers
and provides a quantitative assessment of the creditworthiness of a borrower that does not have a rating from an
international rating agency. The model takes into account specific local market conditions.
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The quality of the internal rating model is examined on a regular basis through an assessment of both its effectiveness
and validity. The Group revises the model when deficiencies are identified.

The Group applies internal rating methodologies to specific corporate loans and groups of retail and small business
loans, which incorporate various underlying master scales that are different from that used by international rating
agencies. Asaresult, itis not possible to make a cross-product score comparison which would agree to the outstanding
balance of loans to customers per the balance sheet. As such, more detailed information is not being presented.

The following table details the carrying value of assets that are impaired and the ageing of those that are past due
but not impaired:

Financial assets past due but not impaired 31 December 2008
. Financial
Neither past
due nor 0-3 months  3-6 months 6 months to Greater than assets that Total
S 1 year one year have been
impaired - -
impaired
Due from banks 7,831,765 - - - - - 7,831,765
Loans to customers 17,922,725 - - - - 318,288,786 336,211,511
Investments available-for-sale 42,586 - - - - - 42,586

Financial assets past due but not impaired 31 December 2007 as

restated
. Financial
Neither past

due nor 0-3 months  3-6 months 6 months to Greater than assets that Total

. - 1 year one year have been

impaired . -

impaired

Due from banks 12,933,271 - - - - - 12,933,271
Loans to customers 10,779,202 - - - - 142,611,836 153,391,038
Factoring - - - - - 3,360,340 3,360,340
Investments available-for-sale 42,851 - - - - - 42,851
Investments in associates 5,100,000 - - - - - 5,100,000

31 December 2007 as

Financial assets past due but not impaired .
previously reported

Neither past Financial
due nor 0-3 months  3-6 months 6 months to Greater than assets that Total
. - 1 year one year have been
impaired . -
impaired
Due from banks 12,932,941 - - - - - 12,932,941
Loans to customers 10,779,202 - - - - 142,611,836 153,391,038
Factoring - - - - - 3,360,340 3,360,340
Investments available-for-sale 1,633,115 - - - - - 1,633,115
Investments in associates 5,100,000 - - - - - 5,100,000
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Geographical concentration

The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee exercises control over the risk in the legislation and regulatory
arena and assess its influence on the Group's activity. This approach allows the Group to minimize potential losses
from the investment climate fluctuations in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Group's Management Board sets up
country limits, which mainly applies to banks of the Commonwealth of Independent States and Baltic countries.

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below:

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers
Investments available-for-sale
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
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The Republic
of Azerbaijan

24,419,977
1,382,282
3,090,009

336,211,511

40,000
6,320,414
6,038,186

343,725
52,843
878,870

378,777,817

CIS countries

179,915

195,963

6,697,049
317,084,329
137,424
41,201
1,143,887

325,103,890

53,673,927

190,630

OECD 31 December
countries 2008 Total
- 24,419,977
- 1,382,282
4,561,841 7,831,765
- 336,211,511
2,586 42,586
- 6,320,414
- 6,038,186
- 343,725
- 52,843
- 894918
4,564,427 383,538,207
1,61 6,698,660
- 317,084,329
- 137,424
- 41,201
51,966 1,201,186
53,677 325,162,800
4,510,850
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from banks

Loans to customers
Factoring

Investments available-for-sale
Investments in associates
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

The Republic
of Azerbaijan

22,001,735
5,808,652
153,391,038
3,360,340
40,000
5,100,000
5,497,923
5,313,604
330,083
35,793
999,570

201,878,738

CIS countries

11,522,433
137,779,099
231,954
230,102
1,005,993

150,769,581

51,109,157

Total 31
OECP December 2007
countries
as restated
- 22,001,735
7,064,855 12,933,271
- 153,391,038
- 3,360,340
2,851 42,851
- 5,100,000
- 5,497,923
- 5,313,604
- 330,083
- 35,793
2277 1,017,225
7,069,983 209,023,863
4,145 11,526,578
- 137,779,099
- 231,954
- 230,102
158,824 1,165,086
162,969 150,932,819
6,907,014
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Total 31
The Republic . OECD December 2007
of Azerbaijan CIS countries countries as previously

reported
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 22,095,998 - - 22,095,998
Due from banks 5,808,322 59,764 7,064,855 12,932,941
Loans to customers 153,391,038 - - 153,391,038
Factoring 3,360,340 - - 3,360,340
Investments available-for-sale 1,630,264 - 2,851 1,633,115
Investments in associates 5,100,000 - - 5,100,000
Property and equipment 5,497,923 - - 5,497,923
Intangible assets 330,083 - - 330,083
Deferred income tax asset 35,793 - - 35,793
Other assets 1,018,235 15,378 2277 1,035,890
TOTAL ASSETS 198,267,996 75,142 7,069,983 205,413,121
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and government agencies 11,522,433 - 4,145 11,526,578
Customer accounts 137,874,415 - - 137,874,415
Provision for impairment losses on other operations 231,954 - - 231,954
Current income tax liability 208,849 - - 208,849
Other liabilities 692,289 269 158,824 851,382
TOTAL LIABILITIES 150,529,940 269 162,969 150,693,178
NET POSITION 47,738,056 74,873 6,907,014
Liquidity risk

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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Weighted

average Upto1 1 month to3 3 monthto1 1yearto5 Over 5 vears Maturity D?ct:r:\f)::r
effective month months year years Y undefined
. 2008
interest rate
ASSETS
Due from banks 7.5% 760,950 - 3,620,115 - - - 4,381,065
Loans to customers 11.58% 4,604,048 15,334,252 120,713,647 190,227,241 3,885,435 1,446,888 336,211,511

Total interest bearing assets

. 5,364,998 15,334,252 124,333,762 190,227,241 3,885,435 1,446,888 340,592,576
at fixed rates

Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other financial commitments
associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group performs
daily monitoring of expected future cash flows on clients' and banking operations, which is a part of the assets/
liabilities management process. The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee sets limits on the minimum
proportion of maturing funds available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level of interbank and other
borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

An analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following table. The tables have been drawn up
to detail:

(i) The remaining contractual maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities (both interest and principal cash flows) based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay, and

(i) The expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of
the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group anticipates that the
cash flow will occur in a different period.
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Total interest bearing assets 5364998 15334252 124,333,762 190,227,241 3,885,435 1446888 340,592,576
Cash and cash equivalents 9,286,091 - - - - 15,133,886 24,419,977
Gold 1,382,282 - - - ; ; 1,382,282
Due from banks 3,413,854 36,846 - - - - 3,450,700
Investments available for B B B B B 42,586 42,586
sale
Other assets 10,338 191,255 693,325 - - - 894918
19,457,563 15,562,353 125,027,087 190,227,241 3,885,435 16,623,360 370,783,039
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and 5.11% 16,894 2,977,701 - - 3,697,750 - 6,692,345
government agencies
Customer accounts 8.02% 10,135,161 12,198,992 21,078,000 183,902,155 - - 227,314,308
Total interest bearing 10,152,055 15,176,693 21,078,000 183,902,155 3,697,750 - 234,006,653
liabilities at fixed rates
oral nterest bearing 10,152055 15176693 21078000 183902155 3,697,750 - 234,006,653
Due to banks and . 6315 ) ) _ ) ) 6315
government agencies
Customer accounts 89,770,021 - - - - - 89,770,021
Current income tax liabilities - 41,201 - - - - 41,201
Other liabilities 801,246 42387 46,020 - - 311,533 1,201,186
Guarantees issued and - 639500 6264920 - - - 6,904,420

similar commitments

Letters of credit and
other transaction related - - 5,187,612 7,240,228 - - 12,427,840
contingent obligations

Commitments on credits

and unused credit lines - - - 9,621,090 - - 9,621,090

100,729,637 15,899,781 32,576,552 200,763,473 3,697,750 311,533 353,978,726

Liquidity gap (81272,074)  (337,428) 92,450,535  (10536,232) 187,685
Interest sensitivity gap for (4,787,057) 157,559 103255762 6325086 187,685
fixed rate instruments

Interest sensitivity gap (4787,057) 157,559 103255762 6325086 187,685

Cumulative interest

(4,787,057) (4.629,498) 98,626,264 104,951,350 105,139,035
sensitivity gap
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Weighted Total 31
average Upto1 1 monthto3 3 monthto1 1yearto5 Maturity
: Over 5 years December
effective month months year years undefined
. 2008
interest rate
ASSETS
Due from banks 12,00% 6,069,562 2,958,164 2,808,087 - - - 11,835,813
Loans to customers 18,76% 38,285,300 33,976,876 53,139,624 45952876 5940,272 (6,620,382) 170,674,566
Factoring 5,73% 1,262,155 2,193,258 - - - (64,571) 3,390,842

Total interest bearing assets

. 45,617,017 39,128,298 55,947,711 45,952,876 5,940,272 (6,684,953) 185,901,221
at fixed rates

Total interest bearing assets 45617,017 39,128,298 55,947,711 45952,876 5,940,272 (6,684,953) 185,901,221

Cash and cash equivalents 8,563,944 - - - - 13,532,054 22,095,998

Due from banks - 1,439,913 - - - 35,503 1,475,416

Loans to customers 1,280,859 - - - - (320,215) 960,644

Investments available-for- B B B B B 1,633,115 1,633,115

sale

Investments in associates - - - - - 5,100,000 5,100,000

Other assets 9,467 55,313 - - - - 64,780
55,471,287 40,623,524 55,947,711 45,952,876 5,940,272 13,295,504 217,231,174

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and

government

agencies 2-5% 1,799,270 29,580 133,110 709,920 2,767,663 - 5,439,543

Customer accounts 11,38% 1,603,494 27,962,002 30,650,995 35,879,011 - - 96,095,502

Total interest bearing

RN . 3,402,764 27,991,582 30,784,105 36,588,931 2,767,663 - 101,535,045
liabilities at fixed rates
E(;L?lli?etsereﬁ bearing 3402764  27,991582 30,784,105 36588931 2,767,663 - 101,535,045
Due to banks and 6,773,447 - - - - - 6,773,447
government agencies
Customer accounts 51,197,050 - - - - - 51,197,050
Current income tax liabilities - 208,849 - - - - 208,849
Other liabilities 518,071 75,152 121,965 - - - 715,188
Guarantees issued and 15,224 7,933,692 2,681,231 3,135,900 - - 13,766,047
similar commitments
Letters of credit and
other transaction related 103,086 - 7,109,459 4,488,225 - - 11,700,770
contingent obligations
Commitments on C_redlts 554,607 _ _ 5,546,782 - - 6,101,389
and unused credit lines

62,564,249 36,209,275 40,696,760 49,759,838 2,767,663 - 191,997,785
Liquidity gap (7,092,962) 4,414,249 15,250,951 (3,806,962) 3,172,609
Interest sensitivity gap for 42214253 11136716 25163606 9363945 3,172,609
fixed rate instruments
Interest sensitivity gap 42,214,253 11,136,716 25,163,606 9,363,945 3,172,609
Cumulative interest

42,214,253 53,350,969 78,514,575 87,878,520 91,051,129

sensitivity gap
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Market Risk

Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and other pricing risks to which the Group is exposed. There have
been no changes as to the way the Group measures risk or to the risk it is exposed in 2008.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating rates. The
risk is managed by the Group maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings.

The ALMC also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Group's interest rate position, which provides
the Group with a positive interest margin. The Department of Financial Control conducts monitoring of the Group's
current financial performance, estimates the Group's sensitivity to changes in interest rates and its influence on the
Group's profitability.

The majority of the Group's loan contracts and other financial assets and liabilities that bear interest are either variable
or contain clauses enabling the interest rate to be changed at the option of the lender. The Group monitors its interest
rate margin and consequently does not consider itself exposed to significant interest rate risk or consequential cash
flow risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that could arise from
adverse changes in market conditions. The Department of Financial Control conducts monitoring of the Group's
current financial performance, estimates the Group's sensitivity to changes in fair value interest rates and its influence
on the Group's profitability.

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined based on “reasonably
possible changes in the risk variable”. The level of these changes is determined by management and is contained
within the risk reports provided to key management personnel.

Impact on profit before tax:

As at 31 December 2008 As at 31 December 2007

Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate
+1% -1% +1% -1%

Assets:
Due from banks 43,811 (43,811) 56,409 (56,409)
Loans to customers 3,362,115 (3,362,115) 1,561,079 (1,561,079)
Factoring - - 32,286 (32,286)
Liabilities:
Due to banks and government (66,923) 66923 (46,420) 46,420
agencies
Customer accounts (2,273,143) 2,273,143 (859,633) 859,633
Net impact on profit before tax 1,065,860 (1,065,860) 743,721 (743,721)
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Impact on shareholders equity:

As at 31 December 2008

As at 31 December 2007

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate Interest rate

+1% -1% +1% -1%
Assets:
Due from banks 43,811 (43,811) 56,409 (56,409)
Loans to customers 3,362,115 (3,362,115) 1,561,079 (1,561,079)
Factoring - - 32,286 (32,286)
Liabilities:
Due to banks and government (66,923) 66,923 (46,420) 46,420
agencies
Customer accounts (2,273,143) 2,273,143 (859,633) 859,633
Net impact on profit before tax 1,065,860 (1,065,860) 743,721 (743,721)

Currency risk

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates

on its financial position and cash flows.

The Management Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies. These limits also comply with the minimum
requirements of the NBA. The Group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is presented in the table

below:

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers
Investments available for sale
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

OPEN BALANCE SHEET POSITION
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Other Total 31
AZN UsSD EUR currency December 2008
22,826,295 883,165 710,517 - 24,419,977
1,382,282 - - - 1,382,282
- 4,817,194 47,538 2,967,033 7,831,765
297,911,040 36,521,008 1,779,463 336,211,511
40,000 2,586 - 42,586
6,320,414 - - - 6,320,414
6,038,186 - - - 6,038,186
343,725 - - - 343,725
52,843 - - - 52,843
874,566 20,352 - - 894,918
335,789,351 42,241,719 760,641 4,746,496 383,538,207
4,703,883 14,888 2,188 1,977,701 6,698,660
289,243,926 20,652,862 4,224,096 2,963,445 317,084,329
- 137,424 - - 137,424
41,201 - - - 41,201
1,029,956 112,642 58,5688 - 1,201,186
295,018,966 20917.816 4,284,872 4,941,146 325,162,800
40,770,385 21,323,903 (3,524,231) (194,650)
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from banks

Loans to customers
Factoring

Investments available for sale
Investments in associates
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from banks

Loans to customers
Factoring

Investments available for sale
Investments in associates
Property and equipment
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
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Other Total 31
AZN usD EUR December 2007
currency
as restated
19,179,567 1,690,079 1,132,089 - 22,001,735
400,485 11,356,283 1,092,195 84,308 12,933,271
149,844,918 1,912,835 32,606 1,600,679 153,391,038
2,136,813 1,223,527 - - 3,360,340
40,000 - 2,851 - 42,851
5,100,000 - - - 5,100,000
5,497,923 - - - 5,497,923
5,313,604 - - - 5,313,604
330,083 - - - 330,083
35,793 - - - 35,793
999,593 17,632 - - 1,017,225
188,878,779 16,200,356 2,259,741 1,684,987 209,023,863
2,968,652 6,081,296 750,635 1,725,995 11,526,578
120,196,074 14,340,863 3,242,118 44 137,779,099
- 142,189 89,765 - 231,954
230,102 - - - 230,102
973,628 167,735 23,723 - 1,165,086
124,368,456 20,732,083 4,106,241 1,726,039 150,932,819
64,510,323 (4,531,727) (1,846,500) (41,052)
Total 31
AZN USD EUR Other Decembe_r 2007
currency as previously
reported
19,273,830 1,690,079 1,132,089 - 22,095,998
400,155 11,356,283 1,092,195 84,308 12,932,941
149,844,918 1,912,835 32,606 1,600,679 153,391,038
2,136,813 1,223,527 - - 3,360,340
1,630,264 - 2,851 - 1,633,115
5,100,000 - - - 5,100,000
5,497,923 - - - 5,497,923
330,083 - - - 330,083
35,793 - - - 35,793
1,018,258 17,632 - - 1,035,890
185,268,037 16,200,356 2,259,741 1,684,987 205,413,121
2,968,652 6,081,296 750,635 1,725,995 11,526,578
120,291,390 14,340,863 3,242,118 44 137,874,415
231,954 - - - 231,954
208,849 - - - 208,849
659,924 167,735 23,723 - 851,382
124,360,769 20,589,894 4,016,476 1,726,039 150,693,178
60,907,268  (4,389,538) (1,756,735)  (41,052)

53



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
(IN AZERBAIJAN MANATS)

Currency risk sensitivity

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the USD and Euro against the
AZN. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management's assessment of the possible change in foreign currency exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the period for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well
as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the
currency of the lender or the borrower.

As at 31 December 2008

As at 31 December 2007 as

As at 31 December 2007 as

restated previously reported
AZNJUSD AZN/JUSD AZNJUSD AZN/USD AZNJUSD AZNJUSD
+10% -10% +10% -10% +10% -10%
Impact on profit or loss (2,132,390) 2,132,390 453,173 (453,173) 438,954 (438,954)

As at 31 December 2008

As at 31 December 2007 as

As at 31 December 2007 as

restated previously reported
AZN/EURO AZN/EURO AZN/EURO AZN/EURO AZN/EURO AZN/EURO
+10% -10% +10% -10% +10% -10%
Impact on profit or loss 352,423 (352,423) 184,650 (184,650) 175,674 (175,674)

Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged.
In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these
sensitivities are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these
results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Group's assets and liabilities are actively managed.
Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any actual market movement occurs.
For example, the Group's financial risk management strategy aims to manage the exposure to market fluctuations.
As investment markets move past various trigger levels, management actions could include selling investments,
changing investment portfolio allocation and taking other protective action. Consequently, the actual impact of a
change in the assumptions may not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held at market value on the
balance sheet. In these circumstances, the different measurement bases for liabilities and assets may lead to volatility
in shareholder equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate
potential risk that only represent the Group's view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted
with any certainty; and the assumption that all interest rates move in an identical fashion.
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